
 

 
 
 
 
Summons to Meeting 
 
Friday 8 April 2022 
 

Executive 
 

Wednesday 20 April 2022, 4.00 pm 
 

Top Floor, Allerdale House, Workington 
 

Membership: 
  
Councillor Mike Johnson (Chair)  
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald Councillor Jim Lister 
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Alan Pitcher 
Councillor Colin Sharpe  
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502. 

 

Agenda 
 
1. Minutes  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

 To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 23 March 2022. 
  

2. Apologies for Absence   
 

3. Declaration of Interests   
 

 Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct. 

  

4. Questions   
 

 To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm on a working day, allowing two clear 
working days before the day of the meeting. 

  

5. Members' Announcements  
 

 



6. Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022/23  (Pages 7 - 26) 
 

7. Social Impact Investment Fund  (Pages 27 - 30) 
 

8. Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy  (Pages 31 - 78) 
 

9. Affordable Housing Scheme  (Pages 79 - 118) 
 

 

 
Programme Director, 
Transformation & 
Operating Model 
 

 
Date of Next Meeting: 

 
Wednesday 11 May 2022, 4.00 pm 

Council Chamber - Allerdale House 
 
 



At a meeting of the Executive held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House on 
Wednesday 23 March 2022 at 4.00 pm 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Mike Johnson (Chair)  
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald Councillor Jim Lister 
Councillor Anthony Markley Councillor Alan Pitcher 
Councillor Colin Sharpe  
 
 
Staff Present 
 
B Carlin, N Hardy, C Nicholson, G Roach and A Seekings 
 
 
441. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meetings held on 9 February and 1 March 2022 were signed 
as a correct record. 
 

442. Declaration of Interests  
 
None declared. 
 

443. Questions  
 
None received. 
 

444. Members' Announcements  
 
None received. 
 

445. Quarter 3 Finance Report April to December 2021  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Chief Officer Assets submitted a report which sought to inform Members of 
the Council’s financial performance against budget for the period April to 
December 2021 along with the forecast position to 31 March 2022. 
 
Members noted the headline messages at the end of quarter 3 2021/22, being: 

 Revenue Budget 

(i) Expenditure from the revenue budget, excluding projects 
funded from earmarked reserves, was forecast to underspend 
by £4k; 

(ii) The projected outturn position would result in a contribution to 
General Fund reserves of £4k;  

 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Earmarked Reserves Budget 

(iii) It was anticipated that £552k of the budgeted use of earmarked 
reserves would now be spent in future financial years and had 
therefore been reprofiled within the forecast spend of 
earmarked reserves in 2020-21; 

(iv) After accounting for the reprofiling, a saving of £39k was 
expected 

 Capital Budget 

(v) The capital expenditure budget was forecast to underspend by 
£3.929m (before carry forwards); £96k net of anticipated carry 
forward requests; 

Treasury Management 

(vi) Treasury Management activities were carried out in accordance 
with the Councils treasury management and investment 
strategies and within the limits established by the approved 
treasury and prudential indicators for 2021-22; 

(vii) No new external borrowing was undertaken during the three 
months ending 31 December 2021. 

 
Councillor C Sharpe moved the report for noting.  
 
Alternative options considered 
 
None 
 
The reason for the decision 
 
To inform Members of the Council’s financial performance against budget for 
the period April to December 2021 along with the forecast position to 31 March 
2022. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

446. Quarter 3 Performance Report 2021/22  
 
The subject of the decision 
 
The Strategic Advisor (Corporate) submitted a report to advise Members on the 
Council’s performance at the end of quarter three 2021/22, covering the period 
from 1 October to 31 December 2021. 
 
Members considered and noted the progress made against each of the key 
projects and activities set out in the Corporate Business Plan. 
 
The report contained 52 projects/activities and 34 key performance indicators.  

Page 4



Of the projects/activities 3 was marked as complete or closed, 43 were on 
target and 6 had concerns over their deadlines or outputs being achieved. Of 
the listed KPIs 25 were reported on the RAG report, 18 were on target, 4 had 
concerns on their target being achieved and 3 had significant concerns. 
 
Councillor M Fitzgerald moved the report for noting. 
 
Alternative options considered 
 
None 
 
The reason for the decision 
 
To advise members of progress on the Corporate Business Plan 
priorities/activities and KPIs at the end of quarter three 2021/22. 
 
The decision 
 
Resolved 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

The meeting closed at 4.17 pm 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



 

 

Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Executive – 20 April 2022 

 

Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022/23 

 

Portfolio holder Councillor Mike Johnson – Leader of the Council  
Councillor Marion Fitzgerald - Policy, Governance and People 
Resources Portfolio 

Report from Nik Hardy – Assistant Chief Executive (Policy, Performance and 
Economic Strategy) 

Wards affected All wards 

Is this a key decision Yes 

 

1.0 The reason for the decision 

1.1 To approve the draft Delivery Plan 2022/23.  The Delivery Plan sets out specific 
activity to be undertaken during the next year in working towards achieving the 
objectives set out in the Council Strategy and is the proposed vehicle by which the 
Council will report progress against Council Strategy priorities during 2022/23. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That Executive approve the draft Delivery Plan 2022/23 as presented at Appendix 
A.  

3.0  Background and Introduction 

3.1 The Council Strategy 2020-30 (adopted in December 2019) sets out priority themes 
and a clear set of objectives for each theme over 10 years.   

3.2 The Council Strategy describes the outcomes the Council aims to achieve for its 
communities and gives an overview of the kinds of activity it will undertake to 
achieve those outcomes.   

3.3 Since the Council Strategy was adopted we have faced the upheaval and 
uncertainties that the pandemic has brought.  Recent Delivery Plans have 
necessarily focussed initially on supporting our communities and businesses 
through the crisis, then developing dynamic approaches to support our communities 
and help our economy rebuild through the ongoing transition and recovery phase.  
At the same time, we have made sure that our organisation is stable, our services 
are operating as effectively as possible and we are progressing key projects.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



 

 

3.4 As we continue to move through recovery from the pandemic the Council is now 
also preparing for local government reorganisation in Cumbria.  The creation of two 
unitary authorities from April 2023 presents opportunities to rethink and reshape 
services for communities across Cumbria to tackle significant issues in a new way 
and improve lives.  

3.5 Under the Cumbria (Structural Changes) Order 2022, Allerdale Borough Council will 
be abolished in April 2023 (along with all other existing local authorities in Cumbria). 
Responsibility for all local government functions will transfer to two new unitary 
councils, Cumberland Council and Westmorland and Furness Council.  The area of 
Allerdale will form part of Cumberland Council. 

3.6 The capacity needed for the transition activity to the new Cumberland Council has 
been taken into account in developing the Delivery Plan for 2022/23.  A key focus 
for the Council for 2022/23 will be on continuing to deliver effective and efficient 
front-line services as we prepare for reorganisation. The Council also remains 
focussed on helping communities and businesses renew and rebuild as the 
pandemic and rapidly rising costs continue to impact on lives and livelihoods.  The 
Council will be taking forward a number of key projects and programmes to support 
that approach. 

4.0  Content  

4.1 The draft Delivery Plan 2022/23 is attached as Appendix A. The Delivery Plan 
2022/23 will be the last Delivery Plan for Allerdale Borough Council. 

4.2 The draft Delivery Plan follows the six priorities set out in the Council Strategy:  

• A financially secure council   

• A cleaner, greener Allerdale  

• Invest to grow  

• Outstanding local services  

• Thriving towns and villages  

• Resilient communities  

4.3 For each priority a series of key projects and activities are set out, in addition to key 
performance measures focused on the effective delivery of key activities and 
Council services.   

4.4 In developing the Delivery Plan consideration has been given to key projects and 
programmes to support communities and businesses, the capacity requirements of 
the local government reorganisation programme, and ongoing budget pressures.   

4.5 Business planning for 2022/23 has included making an assessment of what can 
realistically be achieved by April 2023, as well as what projects are likely to be 
taken forward into the new Cumberland Council.  A set of business planning 
principles were adopted to provide guidance to managers as they considered 
activity for 2022/23 to ensure that any projects and activities have been prioritised 
to confirm available capacity to deliver, clarity of purpose, strategic alignment, and 
delivery of value for money. 

Page 8



 

 

4.6 The draft Delivery Plan as presented at Appendix A represents a balanced and 
achievable Plan for the next 12 months that will deliver benefits and improvements 
for our communities in line with the Council Strategy. 

4.7 The Delivery Plan will be published alongside the Council Strategy 2020-2030 on 
our website and reports on progress will be published on a quarterly basis. 

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

5.1 The Delivery Plan sets out specific activity to be undertaken over the next year and 
identifies the lead officers and teams for that activity.  Progress will be reported on 
quarterly to Executive and Overview and Scrutiny.  

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

The Delivery Plan sets out specific activity that will be undertaken over the next 
year to work towards achieving the objectives set out in the Council Strategy in the 
context of recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic and local government 
reorganisation.  

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

The budget setting process is an ongoing annual exercise that determines the 
financial plans for current and future years and is informed by the Council’s 
priorities as set out in the Council Strategy. Information on resources allocated is 
contained in the Council Budget published annually.  There are no additional 
resource requirements requested arising directly from this report at this time. 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

The Council Strategy forms part of the Council’s budget and policy framework and 
responsibility for it is shared between the Executive and the Council.  

6.4 Risk analysis 

 A scored and mitigated risk log 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

The Delivery Plan 
does not focus on 
the right things 

Council effort is 
misdirected and there 
is a missed opportunity 
to achieve 
improvements 

Ensure that the 
Delivery Plan reflects 
the Council Strategy 
strategic objectives   

Low 

The Delivery Plan 
tries to cover too 
much and is not 
focussed enough 

Limited council 
resources are spread 
too thinly and the 
activity identified is not 
delivered 

Ensure that the 
Delivery Plan  
focuses on key 
priorities and 
activities. 

Medium 

Page 9



 

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

There are clear activities relating to these themes set out in the Delivery Plan, in 
particular under the Outstanding Local Services section.     

6.6 Equality impacts 

 An equality impact assessment of the Council Strategy was carried out.  The 
equality implications of individual projects and programmes of work will be 
considered as appropriate.   

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

There are no health and safety implications directly associated with this report. 

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

There are clear activities relating to these themes set out in the Delivery Plan, in 
particular under the Resilient Communities section.     

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

The Delivery Plan includes proposed activity that relates directly or indirectly to 
environmental sustainability including delivering elements of the Council’s Climate 
Change Action plan as well as activity such as improving environmental cleanliness, 
encouraging outdoor community activities around natural spaces and biodiversity. 

6.10 Other significant implications 

None 

Appendices attached to this report 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

Appendix A Draft Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022/23 

Background documents available 

Name of background document Where it is available 

Council Strategy 2020-2030 https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-
council/council-strategy-2020-2030/ 
 

Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Alex FitzGerald 
Strategic Advisor - Corporate 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 516662  

Page 10

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/
mailto:alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk


 

 

Delivery Plan 2022/23 [title page design] 
  

P
age 11



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          2 

 

Introduction 
 
Our Council Strategy 2020-2030 describes the 
outcomes we would like to achieve for our 
communities and gives an overview of the activity we 
will undertake to achieve those outcomes.   
 
This Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 has 
been developed to clearly set out the key actions we 
need to undertake over the coming year, key service 
and strategic activity that will need focus over the 
next year, and key performance measures focused 
on the effective delivery of our services. 
 
This Delivery Plan follows the six priorities set out in 
the Council Strategy:  

 A financially secure council  

 A cleaner, greener Allerdale 

 Invest to grow 

 Outstanding local services 

 Thriving towns and villages 

 Resilient communities 
 
Since our Council Strategy was adopted we have 
faced the upheaval and uncertainties that the 
pandemic has brought.  Our recent Delivery Plans 

have necessarily focussed initially on supporting our communities and 
businesses through the crisis, then developing dynamic approaches to 
support our communities and help our economy rebuild through the ongoing 
transition and recovery phase.  At the same time, we have made sure that 
our organisation is stable, our services are operating as effectively as 
possible and we are progressing key projects. 
 
We now face an exciting future as local government reorganisation in 
Cumbria presents opportunities to rethink and reshape services for 
communities across Cumbria. From April 2023 two new unitary councils will 
be responsible for district and county council services across Cumbria, 
Allerdale will become part of the new Cumberland Council.  There will be 
work to do in preparation for the transition, but we believe it will bring 
significant benefits for all stakeholders and communities in the long term. 
 
As ever, we are determined to do the best for our communities. A key focus 
for 2022-23 will be on continuing to deliver effective and efficient front-line 
services as we prepare for reorganisation. We remain focussed on helping 
our communities and businesses renew and rebuild as the pandemic 
continues to impact on lives and livelihoods, and will be taking forward a 
number of key projects and programmes to support that approach. 
 

 

  

P
age 12



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          3 

A financially secure council 
Our objectives: Address the projected budget gap    Become self-sufficient by 2030    Become more commercial    Become more 

efficient and productive 

We face continuing budget pressures as we head into 2022/23 and public finances will continue to be challenged beyond that, so ensuring that our 
finances are as healthy as possible as we transition to the new Cumberland Council is essential. There will, of course, be a significant amount of 
work in creating the new unitary authorities in Cumbria and this will be a key focus over 2022/23. We need to balance the capacity requirements of 
this work with ensuring that our services continue to be delivered efficiently and effectively for our residents and businesses.  At the same time we 
will continue to manage the ongoing impacts on the Council’s finances arising from the Covid-19 pandemic, and wider economic factors such as 
inflation. 

Key activity for this year will include implementing a range of improvements that will enhance council operations going forward, building on the 
success and learning from our experiences of operating and using technology differently during the Covid-19 lockdown period. 

Key projects/actions Timescales Responsible Chief 
Officer 

LGR Programme delivery – collaborating across all relevant workstreams and packages including:  

Finance (developing appropriate budgets and financial arrangements); Legal and Democratic (covering all 

legal and governance arrangements, setting up and running Joint Committees, holding Shadow elections 

and delivering the Shadow Authorities); Organisational Development and HR (covering all aspects of 

transition of staffing); Assets (developing options for the effective operation and management of assets); 

Strategic Commissioning, Procurement and Contract Management (covering expiry and extension dates, 

contract exemptions, termination dates and wider market sensitivities) 

April 2023 Chief Executive 

Further development of hybrid working practices and our accommodation strategy April 2023 
Assistant Chief Exec 
(Innovation and 
Commercial) 

Monitor and support the wellbeing of the staff team through the LGR transition process  April 2023 Chief Executive 

Deliver technology projects in line with the Connected Futures strategy to provide improved digital 
platforms and self-service options including: 

 The continued implementation of a cloud based built environment and regulatory services system 
 Implementation of a new finance, payroll and HR system (ERP system)   

April 2023 
July 2022 

Assistant Chief Executive 
(Innovation and 
Commercial) 

P
age 13



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          4 

Key projects/actions Timescales Responsible Chief 
Officer 

Further develop self-service options through promotion and development of existing tools and systems April 2023 

Assistant Chief Executive 
(Innovation and 
Commercial)/ Programme 
Director (Transformation 
and Operating Model) 

Implement planned re-routing and re-rounding of waste collections to make collection routes more 
efficient and achieve a net positive environmental benefit 

April 2022 Chief Officer (Assets) 

 

Key performance indicators  Frequency Target 2022/23 

Forecast variation from budget Quarterly Within 5% of budget 

% of debt outstanding for over 90 days Monthly A reducing trend through the year 

NNDR collection rate Monthly 97.70% 

Council Tax collection rate Monthly 97.20% 

Occupancy rates of Council’s property portfolio Monthly 90% 

 

  

P
age 14



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          5 

A cleaner, greener Allerdale  
Our objectives: Make sure our neighbourhoods are clean and tidy    Reduce waste and increase recycling    Improve and protect our 

open spaces and green infrastructure    Ensure environmental sustainability is at the heart of our policies    Use our assets to encourage 
green technology 

We have clear objectives around waste, recycling and neighbourhood cleanliness.  We aim to provide our waste and recycling services as 
effectively as possible whilst addressing issues with increased waste to landfill and increased fly tipping seen during the pandemic period.  We 
know how important to residents our open spaces and green infrastructure are for exercise and wellbeing and we will continue to make sure our 
neighbourhoods and open spaces are clean, tidy and safe, take enforcement action where necessary, and work to improve and protect those 
spaces.  We will maintain a focus on the wider environmental agenda and look for opportunities as we progress work on biodiversity and on 
delivering our Climate Change Action Plan.  

Key projects/actions Timescales Responsible Chief 
Officer  

LGR Programme delivery – collaborating across all relevant workstreams and packages including:  
Climate change (incorporating developing an approach to embed activity to reduce our environmental 
impact throughout the whole programme and developing the new councils’ climate change approaches as 
appropriate); and Waste (incorporating planning for the delivery of waste services) 

April 2023 Chief Executive 

Carry out targeted enforcement activity to tackle environmental crime issues including fly tipping April 2023 
Chief Officer (Place and 
Governance) 

Deliver strategic green infrastructure and biodiversity projects and encourage environmental volunteering 
including 'Get Cumbria Buzzing' sites, Workington Nature Partnership projects and the Cumbria Coastal 
Forest project.  

April 2023 Chief Officer (Assets) 

Explore options to roll out additional doorstep recycling facilities to households that do not currently have a 
full suite of recycling options 

April 2023 Chief Officer (Assets) 

Carry out recycling initiatives and educational campaigns to reduce waste April 2023 Chief Officer (Assets) 

P
age 15



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          6 

Key projects/actions Timescales Responsible Chief 
Officer  

Implementation of the Climate Change Action Plan - including establishing a carbon baseline for some of 
our buildings and a pilot of EV charging points in our carparks  

April 2023 
Assistant Chief Executive 
(Policy, Performance and 
Economic Strategy) 

Deliver Green Homes and other affordable warmth grants to address fuel poverty and help deliver 
environmental benefits  

April 2023 
Chief Officer (Place and 
Governance) 

 

 

Key performance indicators Frequency Target 2022/23 

Number of fly tipping incidents     Monthly Reduce through the year  

Number of Fixed Penalty Notices issued (fly tipping)   Quarterly Increase through the year 

% of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and composting    Quarterly 37% 

Residual waste per household (kgs)    Quarterly 560kg 

Dry recycling per household (kgs) Quarterly 15kg 

No. of hotspot properties (more than 2 missed collections in 6 weeks) Monthly 0 

 

 
  

P
age 16



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          7 

Invest to grow  
Our objectives:  Use our asset portfolio to create new or different opportunities    Work with partners on key economic sites and 

opportunities    Utilise the Allerdale Investment Partnership, the Local Enterprise Partnership and Britain’s Energy Coast to stimulate growth   

The Covid-19 crisis has hit our local, national (and global) economies very hard and the repercussions are likely to be felt for years to come.  Our 
role will be to provide opportunities, assistance, support and leadership to help our area fulfil its potential.  It is vital that in the short term we do all 
we can to support local businesses and employers to stabilise the local economy, but we also need to look to the future to help create the 
conditions to stimulate investment and development in Allerdale. Working with partners we need to create recovery plans that aim to develop a 
more inclusive, resilient and green economy in the longer term, and help Cumbrian businesses to take advantage of opportunities to diversify and 
enter new market segments.  A key activity to support this work will be an ongoing assessment of intelligence and information to help us better 
understand the impacts on the borough, for example how quickly and to what extent supply and demand returns, as we move through recovery 

from the pandemic.  

Key projects/activities Timescales 
Responsible Chief 
Officer 

LGR Programme delivery – collaborating across all relevant workstreams and packages including: 
economic development; nuclear policy and strategy; assets (incorporating an options appraisal and 
blueprint for the capital programmes for each of the new councils) 

April 2023 Chief Executive 

Collaborate with Cumbria County Council on land at Oldside and potential developments at the Port of 
Workington   

April 2023 
Programme Director 
(Workington) 

Work with AIP and BEC on key strategic sites and delivery of projects in key regeneration programmes April 2023 
Assistant Chief Executive 
(Innovation and 
Commercial) 

Deliver the Lillyhall North Infrastructure Project  October 2022 
Assistant Chief Executive 
(Innovation and 
Commercial) 

Develop and submit an Investment Plan for the Shared Prosperity Fund 
September 
2022 

Assistant Chief Executive 
(Policy, Performance and 
Economic Strategy) 

 

 

P
age 17



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          8 

Key performance indicators Frequency Target 2022/23 

% of major planning applications determined within statutory period    Quarterly 90% 

No. of hectares of land unlocked for development Annual 
10.56 ha 

(at Lillyhall North) 

  

P
age 18



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          9 

Outstanding local services 
Our objectives:  Make it easy for customers to contact us    Ensure we get it right first time    Be bold in our use of technology    Look at 

different and better ways to deliver services 

We will continue to look for better ways to deliver services, through changes to processes, new technology or both.  Our aim is to make sure our 
services are easy to access, helpful and efficient.   

We have successfully managed to keep our essential services running well throughout the Covid-19 pandemic period, as well as taking on 
additional tasks asked of us by national government in providing support to our businesses and communities.  Part of our success has been rooted 
in our previous work to enable digital delivery of services and a mobile workforce which will continue to be important in the future.  We will build on 
the success and learning from our experience of operating and utilising technology differently during the Covid-19 period and will be implementing 
improvements to enhance council operations going forward.     

Key projects/activities  Timescales Responsible Chief Officer 

LGR Programme delivery – collaborating across all relevant workstreams and packages including: 
ICT (covering infrastructure, systems and security as well as interim ICT requirements of the 
Shadow Authorities); Customer and Digital (ensuring that customers of the new authorities 
experience a seamless transition from the current councils and can access services at the same or 
improved level as previously) 

April 2023 Chief Executive 

Deliver technology projects in line with the Connected Futures strategy to provide improved digital 
platforms and self-service options including: 
 continued implementation of a cloud based built environment and regulatory services system 
 implementation of a new finance, payroll and HR system  

April 2023 
July 2022 

Assistant Chief Executive 
(Innovation and Commercial) 

Further develop self-service options through promotion and development of existing tools and 
systems 

April 2023 

Assistant Chief Executive 
(Innovation and Commercial)  
Programme Director 

(Transformation and Operating 

Model) 

Continue to effectively manage and monitor the Allerdale Waste Services contract April 2023 Chief Officer (Assets) 

P
age 19



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          10 

Key projects/activities  Timescales Responsible Chief Officer 

Make improvements for customers by expanding the range of customer queries that can be 
managed through Customer Services as a first point of contact  

September 
2022 

Programme Director 

(Transformation and Operating 

Model) 

Ensure the successful introduction of the new Choice Based Lettings policy and system   
December 
2022 

Chief Officer (Place and 
Governance) 

Develop long term options for cemetery space at Salterbeck Cemetery April 2023 Chief Officer (Assets) 

 
Key performance indicators Frequency Target 2022/23 

% of abandoned calls   Monthly 7% 

Customer satisfaction (ring back)   Monthly 90% 

% of official complaints upheld Monthly A reducing trend  

ENewsletter engagement rate  Monthly 75%  

Digital transactions as a % of total transactions    Monthly 50%  

Overall time ICT systems available for use  Monthly 99.9% 

  

P
age 20



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          11 

Thriving towns and villages 
Our objectives:  Support businesses    Create deliverable town plans that enable our towns to adapt to the changing nature of the high 

street   Ensure there are suitable, affordable, decent homes for all   Give people a reason to visit our towns (festivals, events, cultural and 

sporting activities, markets)    Increase the number of people living in our town centres    Build communities, not just homes 

This is an important area for us, made even more significant given the impact the Covid-19 pandemic has had and will continue to have on our 
towns, villages and businesses for some time to come.   

As a council we have a number of service areas that can support businesses with advice and key services, such as planning, building control, 
licensing and environmental health, and we will make sure we are offering helpful and proactive advice and guidance for businesses.  We can also 
help to maintain demand in the local economy by using local suppliers where we can and paying local suppliers promptly.  Our two big regeneration 
programmes in Maryport and Workington are vitally important for those towns, and having secured significant funding for these programmes, we 
are moving forward with delivery of a number of projects in 2022/23.   

Key projects/activities 
Timescales Responsible Chief 

Officer 

LGR Programme delivery – collaborating across all relevant workstreams and packages including:  
housing; economic development; planning and building control; culture, leisure and events (incorporating 
further develop of options for future provision of leisure services)  

April 2023 Chief Executive 

Progress Workington Town Deal programme including  
 Design development and appointment of construction partner for the Workington Innovation Centre 
 Work with Cumbria County Council to progress detailed design work for townscape and 

connectivity improvements in the town centre 
 Work with partners to progress project development for the Sports Village 
 Work with Lakes College to implement the Digital Accelerator project  
 Work with partners to progress further survey and design development work for the land 

remediation scheme at the port of Workington/Oldside 

April 2023 
Programme Director 
(Workington) 

Progress delivery of Future High Streets and Heritage Action Zone projects within the Maryport 
Regeneration programme.  This includes: 

 Complete the refurbishment programmes for Maryport Town Hall, Heron Foods and 68 Crosby 
Street  

 Complete the conversion of the Maritime Museum building into an art gallery 

April 2023 
Programme Director 
(Maryport) 

P
age 21



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          12 

Key projects/activities 
Timescales Responsible Chief 

Officer 
 Commence delivery of: the housing improvement programme, redevelopment of the Wave Centre, 

the Christchurch redevelopment scheme, the Carlton conversion and public realm improvements  
 Continue delivery of the Shopfront Improvement Scheme 
 Development of the Cultural Consortium and delivery of a Cultural Programme for the town 

Completion and occupation of the Otley Road, Keswick local affordable housing scheme   
December 
2022 

Programme Director 
(Maryport) 
 

Work with partners to develop a project in Maryport to support the Hadrian’s Wall and the wider Roman 
Frontier element of the Borderlands Programme 

April 2023 
Programme Director 
(Maryport) 

Support the development (and delivery) of the Wigton Town Plan as part of the Borderlands Programme April 2023 

Assistant Chief 
Executive (Policy, 
Performance and 
Economic Strategy)  

Work with the High Streets Task Force to identify local challenges and develop strategies for positive 
change in Cockermouth 

April 2023 

Assistant Chief 
Executive (Policy, 
Performance and 
Economic Strategy) 

Deliver a programme of events and festivals in our towns April 2023 
Programme Director 
(Workington) 

Build on the previous shop front improvement scheme in Aspatria to allow further businesses to benefit April 2023 
Programme Director 
(Workington) 

Work with partners to support the recovery and development of the visitor economy  April 2023 
Programme Director 
(Workington) 

Continue to develop business engagement and support activity to enable the Council to better understand 
businesses issues, challenges and ideas and feed those through to local, regional and national forums 

April 2023 
Programme Director 
(Workington) 

P
age 22



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          13 

Key projects/activities 
Timescales Responsible Chief 

Officer 

Undertake housing needs assessment to ensure up to date data is available to support planning policy 
September 
2022 

Assistant Chief 
Executive (Policy, 
Performance and 
Economic Strategy) 

 
Key performance indicators Frequency Target 2022/23 

% of invoices from local Cumbrian businesses paid within 14 days  Monthly 98% 

% of all Council spend on goods and services with local Cumbrian suppliers  Quarterly 50%  

Numbers of affordable homes delivered Quarterly 15 

Full Plans determined within 5 weeks (Building Control)  Monthly 85%  

% of Local Land Charges Searches carried out within 10 working days   Monthly 98% 

% of minor and other planning applications determined within statutory period   Monthly 90% 

No. of housing units granted planning permission   Quarterly 353 

Number of DFGs approved Monthly 
Increase through the 
year 

  

P
age 23



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          14 

Resilient communities  
Our objectives:  Promote healthy, active lifestyles    Address community safety issues    Engage with our communities, and our town 

and parish councils    Prevent and reduce homelessness    Address inequalities 

The pandemic crisis has had a profound impact on our communities and we will continue to see the effects for some time to come.  Our 
communities now also face steeply rising living costs driven in large part by spiralling fuel costs.   We know that certain groups will be particularly 
vulnerable to the current economic situation such as those with low income or in receipt of benefits, those in insecure, low-paid work, and the 
ageing population.    

We will be supporting residents through our existing schemes such as the Council Tax Reduction Scheme as well as delivering any additional 
support available through government schemes.  Our homelessness service is vitally important and there will be work to do over the next months to 
address ongoing demand as the cost of living continues to rise.   

The Council contributes to existing health and wellbeing, community safety and other networks that will continue to co-ordinate and deliver activity 
to support our communities such as the Allerdale Health and Wellbeing Forum and the multi-agency Local Focus Hub. Making sure there are a 
range of leisure opportunities for our communities to support health and wellbeing is also a key activity for us and we will be taking forward 
activities in this area including thinking about leisure provision in the longer term. 

Key projects/activities 
Timescales Responsible Chief 

Officer 

LGR Programme Delivery – collaborating across Children and Families, Adults and Public Health in 

areas such as homelessness, environment, leisure, public protection, housing and planning.  
April 2023 Chief Executive 

Take an active role in the Creative People and Places Consortium to develop arts programme with the 
community   

October 2022 Chief Officer (Assets) 

Develop full options appraisal for leisure centre provision in Keswick April 2023 Chief Officer (Assets) 

Carry out feasibility study into provision of a BMX track in Workington June 2022 Chief Officer (Assets) 

Further develop the Allerdale Local Focus Hub to deliver a multi-agency approach to anti-social 
behaviour, community safety and linked complex issues  

April 2023 
Chief Officer (Place and 
Governance) 

P
age 24



Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022-23 

Allerdale Borough Council          15 

Key projects/activities 
Timescales Responsible Chief 

Officer 

Develop a resilient Covid Control Service in partnership with Cumbria County Council and further 
develop the wider public health response 

April 2023 

Chief Officer (Place and 
Governance) / 
Programme Director 
(Maryport) 

Deliver grants and support those experiencing financial hardship including the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme and other schemes relating to financial hardship as a result of the pandemic and rising living 
costs 

April 2023 Chief Officer (Assets) 

Deliver actions in the Homeless Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy action plan including a strong 
focus on prevention activity and domestic abuse  

April 2023 
Chief Officer (Place and 
Governance) 

Take forward steps to ensure provision of suitable sites following the outcome of the Gypsy and Traveller 
Accommodation Assessment (GTAA)  

April 2023 
Chief Officer (Place and 
Governance) 

Deliver the Resilient Communities Fund to support community groups October 2022  
Assistant Chief Executive 
(Policy, Performance and 
Economic Strategy) 

 
 

Key performance indicators Frequency Target 2022/23 

Leisure centre usage Monthly Return to pre Covid levels 

% of homeless decisions made within guideline 56 days  Quarterly 100%  

% of successful homeless preventions and relief outcomes  Quarterly 50%  

Time taken to process Housing Benefit new claims (no. of days)  Monthly 15 days 

Time taken to process Council Tax new claims (no. of days)  Monthly 20 days 

Time taken to process Housing Benefit/Council Tax change of circumstances (no. of days)   Monthly 4 days 

 

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 26



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Executive – 20 April 2022 

 

Social Impact Investment Fund 

 
 
Portfolio holder    Councillor Mike Johnson  

Report from  Nik Hardy – Assistant Chief Executive (Policy, 
Performance and Economic Strategy) 

Wards affected    All 

Is this a key decision   Yes  
 

 
 

1.0 The reason for the decision 

1.1 To agree the process for allocating funds from the Allerdale Social Impact 
Investment Fund, for 2022- 2023. This is reviewed annually, subject to the decision 
of the Sellafield Board to provide £500,000 each to Allerdale and Copeland for 
Socio-Economic activity. 

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That Executive approves the allocation of funds from the Social Impact Investment 
Fund of £500,000 for 2022-23 as outlined in paragraph 4.3 of the report. 

3.0 Background and Introduction 

3.1 Since 2014 the Board of Sellafield Ltd, has agreed annually to allocate up to 
£1,000,000 of funding for use by Allerdale and Copeland Borough Councils 
(£500,000 each) to support projects, initiatives and programmes of work that deliver 
social conditions for growth. In Allerdale, this has resulted in the creation of the 
Allerdale Social Impact Investment Fund (SIIF).   

3.2 The general requirement of the fund is that activity must be in line with the 
objectives of Sellafield’s current Social Impact Strategy and the Energy Act 2016, in 
addition to the Council’s own priorities in the current Council Strategy 2020-30.  

3.3 The purpose of this report is to consider the process by which this Council allocates 
monies from the Social Impact Investment Fund for 2022-23.   

4.0  Content (to include alternative options considered) 

4.1 In recent years the Council has used the SIIF Programme to support a wide range 
of socio-economic activity. In 2021-22 the Council utilised the funding to support 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/708584/Sellafield_Social_Impact_Strategy..pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/20/contents/enacted
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/


activity relating to the major regeneration programmes in Workington and Maryport 
in addition to supporting sports development and community resilience activities.  

4.2 In 2022-23 the SIIF funding once more provides an opportunity to progress these 
key areas for the Council and support delivery against the Council Strategy.  

4.3 It is therefore recommended that the SIIF Programme for 2022-23 be allocated as 
follows.  

 £100,000 to support the implementation of the Council’s Community 
Resilience Strategy. This activity will once more take the form of a 
grants programme which will support the voluntary and community 
sector and a small grants programme to support the development of 
new activity. It is recommended that this funding and the formation of 
the grants programme is delegated to the Assistant Chief Executive 
(Policy, Performance and Economic Strategy) 

 £75,000 to support sporting development. This funding will continue 
the work from previous years and support grassroots sporting 
development and increasing participation rates across the Borough. It 
is recommended that this funding is delegated to the Chief Officer 
(Assets) 

 £125,000 to support the Council’s economic development activity 
linked to the delivery of the Allerdale Recovery and Growth Strategy 
and activity linked to the Levelling Up Agenda. It is recommended that 
this funding is delegated to the Programme Director (Workington) 

 £200,000 to support the Council’s regeneration priorities. This funding 
will be utilised primarily to support the implementation of the 
regeneration programmes in Maryport and Workington. It is 
recommended that this funding is delegated to the Assistant Chief 
Executive (Innovation and Commercial)  

4.4 The allocation of funds within the SIIF programme must be allocated in line with the 
Sellafield Social Impact Strategy and the Energy Act 2016, in addition to the 
Council’s own priorities in the current Council Strategy 2020-30. Members may 
choose to allocate the funding within the SIIF programme differently but any 
amendments must still be in line with these key documents. 

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

5.1 Individual elements of the programme are delegated to various Chief Officers to be 
delivered by service areas across the Council. Grant programmes will be delivered 
in line with previous grant programmes and utilising best practice from across the 
Council. Major activity linked to the delivery of the regeneration programmes will be 
supported by the Projects and Programme Office.  

.   

Page 28

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/708584/Sellafield_Social_Impact_Strategy..pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/20/contents/enacted
https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/about-council/council-strategy-2020-2030/


6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

The delivery of the SIIF programme in 2022-23 will support a wide range of activity 
within the Council Strategy. It will make a significant contribution to the Thriving 
Towns and Villages and Invest to Grow through the delivery activity related to the 
Allerdale Recovery and Growth Strategy and the major regeneration programmes.  

The SIIF will also make a significant contribution to the Resilient Communities 
theme in addressing the resilience of sporting clubs and supporting the voluntary 
and community sector. 

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

The funding to support the development of the SIIF is provided by Sellafield Ltd and 
augments the Council’s existing resources. 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

There are no legal or governance issues arising from this report.  

6.4 Risk analysis 

 A scored and mitigated risk log 
 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

Allerdale do not deliver 
the SIIF in line with the 
funders key strategic 
documents 
 

Potential 
clawback of 
funding 

Ongoing dialogue 
and discussions with 
Sellafield Ltd on the 
Council’s programme 

1x2 

Cost overruns on 
individual elements of 
the fund 

Budget 
overspend 

Regular finance 
monitoring 

1x2 

    

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

 There are no service issues directly arising from this report.  

6.6 Equality impacts 

 The fund will have a positive impact on people seeking work and those on low 
wages as part of the Council’s overall approach to economic growth and 
regeneration. It is also likely that many young people will benefit from grants into 
sporting organisations. There will no adverse impacts on other equality groupings.  

 

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

There are no health and safety impacts arising from this report. 

Page 29



6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

The SIIF programme will have a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of 
residents. This will be achieved by continued support for the grass roots sporting 
community which in turn will lead to improved participation rates in physical activity.  

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

There are no environmental or sustainability impacts arising directly from this report.  

6.10 Other significant implications 

 There are no other significant implications arising from this report. 
 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

  

  

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

  

 
 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Nik Hardy 
Assistant Chief Executive (Policy, Performance and Economic Strategy) 
Nik.hardy@allerdale.gov.uk  
01900 516660  

Page 30



 

 

Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Executive – 20 April 2022 

 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
2022-2027 

 
Portfolio holder Councillor Marion Fitzgerald - Policy, Governance and People 

Resources Portfolio 

Report from Sharon Sewell – Chief Officer (Place and Governance) 

Wards affected All wards 

Is this a key decision Yes 

 

1.0 The reason for the decision 

1.1 A new Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy has been 
developed in line with the council’s statutory requirement to prepare a new 
homelessness and rough sleeping strategy every five years.   The draft strategy is 
presented here for consideration by Executive.   

2.0  Recommendations 

2.1 That Executive approve the draft Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy as presented at Appendix A.  

3.0  Background and Introduction 

3.1 The 2002 Homelessness Act requires local authorities to conduct a review of 
homelessness and develop a homelessness strategy at least every five years. The 
purpose of the strategy is the prevention of homelessness, to secure sufficient 
accommodation for people who are or may become homeless and to secure the 
provision of support for those who are or may become homeless so they do not 
become homeless again.  

3.2 The Strategy responds to the changing environment in which homelessness and 
rough sleeping support services are now delivered and has been shaped by 
national policy, a review of data, current services, customer feedback and partner 
views. A peer review by the Local Government Association also helped to identify 
areas for improvement to build into the strategy.  

3.3 The review of homelessness considered information from a range of sources to 
determine: 

Page 31

Agenda Item 8



 

 

 Current government policy and legislation including additional duties 
introduced 

 Key achievements and changes in the homelessness service 

 An up to date understanding of homelessness and housing needs in Allerdale 

 Current and future levels of homelessness and rough sleeping trends 

 Levels of support and accommodation needed to meet needs of people in the 
district who are or may become homeless in the future 

 Links with other strategies and programmes that aim to address the wide 
range of factors that could contribute to homelessness in the local area 

 An understanding of partner agency activities 

 The resources available to the Council to prevent and tackle homelessness 

A summary of key findings is provided as Appendix B. 

3.4 Initial consultation with partners and stakeholders as part of the review helped to 
identify areas for improvement.  

3.5 This Strategy is being proposed for the five year period 2022-2027.  However, the 
Strategy has been developed in the context of local government reorganisation in 
Cumbria so it is likely that the transition to the new Cumberland Council will 
necessitate earlier review.  Cumbrian local authorities already have a good track 
record of collaborating on strategic approaches to housing and homelessness, 
successfully securing funding and delivering together.  The priorities identified 
within this strategy align closely with those in both the Copeland and Carlisle 
homelessness strategies meaning that the councils are already moving in the same 
direction. 

4.0  Content  

4.1 The draft Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy has been 
developed based on the review findings and further conversations and consultation 
with statutory and voluntary partners.  It has also taken into account views of 
service users. This has helped us to target our actions to focus on the needs of our 
area. 

4.2 The draft Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy details how the 
Council and its partners can seek to optimise opportunities to prevent and relieve 
homelessness including rough sleeping throughout the district to provide the right 
accommodation and support for those facing homelessness and builds on the 
achievements made in the last few years. 

4.3 The draft Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy sets out four 
strategic priorities:  

 Reduce levels of hidden homelessness and rough sleeping  

 Prioritise prevention  

 Make sure there is appropriate support in place   

 Make sure there are suitable accommodation options available 

4.4 The Strategy also sets out two principles important to any approach to addressing 
homelessness that underpin the actions identified in the Strategy:   

Page 32



 

 

 Person-centred approaches – recognising the need to focus on the person 
rather than on processes. Listening to those with lived experience is an 
important part of this.   

 Working together (partnership approach) – recognising that no single agency 
can effectively prevent and reduce homelessness.   

4.5 Partnership working remains at the core of our strategic approach and multi-agency 
approaches will be key to achieving many of the objectives set out in the Strategy. 
The Strategy fully recognises the important role, skills and expertise that other 
partners and stakeholders have in delivering sensitive and tailored solutions to one 
of the most complex issues within our communities.  We actively participate in many 
partnership approaches and forums all of which contribute to the homeless agenda, 
but we will always consider ways to improve relationships and approaches. 

4.6 The draft Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy was shared 
more widely for consultation with elected members, statutory and voluntary 
statutory and voluntary agencies with an interest in homelessness issues in 
February 2022. 

4.7 The draft Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2022-2027 can 
be viewed in full at appendix A. 

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

5.1 The Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy will be underpinned 
by a more detailed action plan that will set out more detailed delivery activity.  
Progress will be reported to Executive.   

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

The development of a Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy 
directly supports the Council Strategy theme of Resilient Communities and the 
objective ‘preventing homelessness’.  

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

It is envisioned this Strategy will be delivered within existing resources however, 
there are a number of factors that may impact on delivery over the coming years 
including: 

 opportunities to secure external funding to continue to deliver specialist 
projects concerning domestic abuse and rough sleeping 

 the full impact of the Covid-19 pandemic nationally and locally 

 the rising costs of living currently being seen nationally driven to a large 
extent by rapidly increasing fuel bills.  

Any emerging issues that would require additional resources will be subject to the 
usual Council decision making processes.  

Page 33



 

 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

Local authorities have a statutory duty to conduct a review of homelessness, to 
develop a homelessness strategy and to update that strategy every five years under 
the Homelessness Act 2002.  

6.4 Risk analysis 

 A scored and mitigated risk log 
 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

The Homelessness 
Prevention and 
Rough Sleeping 
Strategy does not 
focus on the right 
things 

Council effort is 
misdirected and there 
is a missed opportunity 
to support communities 

Ensure that the 
strategy reflects the 
evidence  

Low 

The Homelessness 
Prevention and 
Rough Sleeping 
Strategy tries to 
cover too much and 
is not focussed 
enough 

Limited council 
resources are spread 
too thinly and the 
strategy is not 
delivered 

Ensure that the 
strategy focuses on 
some key elements 
that the council can 
act upon. 

Medium 

The Strategy is not 
approved  

The Council will not be 
compliant with 
legislation which could 
lead to Government 
funding being reduced.  

Approve the draft 
Strategy 

Low 

Relevant partners 
do not engage to 
deliver the identified 
actions.  

This could result in 
some of the actions not 
being carried out which 
would then impact on 
the ability to meet the 
identified priorities. 

Continue to engage 
with partners 
strategically though 
the Cumbria 
Homelessness 
Forum, and locally 
through other groups, 
forums and informal 
working 
arrangements.  

Medium 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service 

The Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy recognises the need 
for person centred approaches and identifies an action to ensure that the voices of 
service users are heard by ensuring active reflection on those that have been 
through the service to provide feedback. 

6.6 Equality impacts 

 An equality impact assessment has been undertaken and has not identified any 
negative impacts relating to the approaches set out in this strategy.  The Equality 
Impact Assessment is attached at Appendix C. 

Page 34



 

 

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

There are health and safety implications associated with the provision of the 
homelessness service and temporary accommodation.  The team have appropriate 
risk assessments in place and undertake appropriate training to manage those 
implications. 

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

The Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy is expected to have 
positive impacts on health, wellbeing and community safety issues.   
The Strategy will have a positive impact on health and wellbeing by ensuring 
support is available to people with additional needs such as drug and alcohol. It will 
help to address wider social issues such as poverty and deals with specific 
community safety issues such as domestic abuse.  

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

The Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy is considered to have 
limited environmental/sustainability implications.  Limiting the use of B&Bs as 
temporary accommodation may reduce the use of single use plastics as takeaway 
meals are more likely to be consumed in these circumstances. 

6.10 Other significant implications 

None 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

Appendix A Draft Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy 

Appendix B Summary of homelessness review findings  

Appendix C Equality Impact Assessment 

 

Background documents available 

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

  

 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
Holly Cosgrove 
Housing Options Manager 
holly.cosgrove@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 878655 
 
Alex FitzGerald 
Strategic Advisor - Corporate 
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 516662  

Page 35

mailto:holly.cosgrove@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36



 

 

Homelessness 
prevention and 
rough sleeping 
strategy 
2022-2027  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 37



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 2 

 

Contents 

Contents ................................................................................................................................... 2 

Foreword .................................................................................................................................. 3 

Executive summary ................................................................................................................. 4 

Developing the strategy .......................................................................................................... 4 

Strategic priorities ................................................................................................................... 4 

Context ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

Definition of homelessness ..................................................................................................... 5 

Causes of homelessness........................................................................................................ 5 

Covid-19 pandemic................................................................................................................. 5 

National strategic context ....................................................................................................... 6 

Local strategic context ............................................................................................................ 7 

Homelessness in Allerdale ...................................................................................................... 8 

Local Context ......................................................................................................................... 8 

Homelessness review findings ............................................................................................... 8 

Challenges, barriers and opportunities ................................................................................... 9 

Achievements..........................................................................................................................11 

Principles .................................................................................................................................12 

Person-centred approaches ..................................................................................................12 

Working together (partnership approach) ..............................................................................12 

Priority 1: Reduce levels of hidden homelessness and rough sleeping .............................14 

Priority 2: Prioritise prevention ..............................................................................................15 

Priority 3: Make sure there is appropriate support in place .................................................16 

Priority 4: Make sure there are suitable accommodation options available .......................17 

 

  

Page 38



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 3 

 

Foreword 
Welcome to our new Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy, which sets out 
our vision and plans for the prevention of homelessness and rough sleeping in Allerdale.  

The causes of homelessness and its effects are complex and intertwined, and inevitably there 
are no simple solutions. It is not just about buildings and beds - it is about the many social 
problems that may affect people’s lives, such as health, income, family breakdown; and things 
can go wrong for any one of us at any time. One of the worst crises of all is to be without a 
home and we recognise the serious impact homelessness has on people’s lives.  

This Strategy sets out the Council’s commitment to meeting the challenges that tackling 
homelessness presents. We know that homelessness is not an issue that can be tackled by the 
Council alone, but that effective partnerships are required across the public, private and 
charitable sectors to ensure that the right advice and support is available when it is needed.   

A perfect example of a successful joint approach is a recent successful bid to the government in 
partnership with Home Group that has enabled us to provide supported accommodation for 
rough sleepers across Allerdale in 12 high quality "move on" homes. Clients will be able to live 
in these homes for up to two years with the benefit of wrap around support to help them achieve 
their goals in independent living. This scheme will help to make a real difference to people’s 
lives and is so much more than just a room and a bed.  

Much has already been achieved, but we have much more to do. I am very conscious of and 
grateful for the hard work that has been done and continues to be done by council staff, and our 
statutory and voluntary partners.    

I am particularly proud of the hard work and dedication that our team have shown over the past 
two years in rising to the challenges that the pandemic presented and in continuing to make 
improvements to the service and help people in crisis.   The Council has fully embraced the 
principles of the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 in its service delivery with access to advice 
and assistance for all who approach. We welcome other national initiatives, such as the drive to 
end rough sleeping and will play our part in tackling this issue locally.   

I am grateful to everyone who took the time to contribute to the development of this strategy. 
Delivering the strategy will not be without its challenges – economic uncertainties and the rising 
cost of living are already putting increasing pressure on households - but I look forward to 
working together with all our partners to find solutions and tackle homelessness in Allerdale 
together. 

 

 

Councillor Marion Fitzgerald 

Portfolio Holder for Governance and People Resources 

  

Page 39



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 4 

 

Executive summary 
Homelessness, and in particular rough sleeping, is increasing nationally.  Although in Allerdale 
we are not seeing significant increases in the numbers of people contacting us who are at risk of 
homelessness or are already homeless, we are seeing more people who have complex support 
needs such as mental health, drug and alcohol issues.  We also know we have ‘hidden 
homelessness’ in our area where people may be staying with family and friends, but are 
essentially ‘roofless’ and at risk of having to sleep rough. 

Prevention of homelessness is very much at the forefront of national initiatives and policies to 
improve peoples’ lives and Allerdale Borough Council is equally committed to this – preventing 
homelessness is one of the objectives in our Council Strategy 2020-2030. 

This Strategy sets out the Council’s commitment to meeting the challenges that tackling 
homelessness presents.  We know that homelessness is not an issue that can be tackled by the 
Council alone, but in partnership with statutory and voluntary sector organisations. The Strategy 
fully recognises the important role, skills and expertise that other partners and stakeholders 
have in delivering sensitive and tailored solutions to one of the most complex issues within our 
communities.  

The Strategy details how the Council and its partners can seek to optimise opportunities to 
prevent and relieve homelessness including rough sleeping throughout the district to provide the 
right accommodation and support for those facing homelessness and builds on the 
achievements made in the last few years. 

Developing the strategy 

The strategy responds to the changing environment in which homelessness and rough sleeping 
support services are now delivered and has been shaped by national policy, a review of data, 
current services and resources, and engagement with partners, stakeholders, and service 
users. A peer review by the Local Government Association has also helped us to identify areas 
for improvement to build into the strategy. This has helped us to target our actions to focus on 
the needs of our area. 

This strategy has been developed in the context of local government reorganisation in Cumbria.   
From April 2023 two new unitary councils will be responsible for district and county council 
services across Cumbria, The Allerdale area will become part of the new Cumberland Council 
along with Carlisle and Copeland. The Cumbrian local authorities already have a good track 
record of collaborating on strategic approaches to housing and homelessness, successfully 
securing funding and delivering together.  The priorities identified within this strategy align 
closely with those in both the Copeland and Carlisle homelessness strategies meaning that we 
are already moving in the same direction.  

Strategic priorities 

 Reduce levels of hidden homelessness and rough sleeping 

 Prioritise prevention 

 Make sure there is appropriate support in place  

 Make sure there are suitable accommodation options available  

Page 40



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 5 

 

Context  

Definition of homelessness 

A common perception of homelessness is a single person seen sleeping rough on the streets. 
But homelessness is a more complex issue affecting families, couples and single people. 
People are defined as homeless if they have nowhere to stay and are living on the streets, but 
people can also be homeless even if they have a roof over their heads.  

People experiencing the most acute forms of 
homelessness will include those sleeping rough, sofa 
surfing or living in hostels, night shelters or unsuitable 
temporary accommodation. Those in insecure or poor 
housing at risk of homelessness will include those 
with notice to quit who cannot afford to rent anywhere 
else, those in suitable but temporary accommodation, 
those in refuges and those about to be discharged 
from prison or hospital with nowhere to live 
permanently. 

Causes of homelessness  

Homelessness can occur for a wide variety of reasons. Some might be local economic factors 
(e.g. low wages, high housing and cost of living costs) or national Government policy changes 
(e.g. changes to Universal Credit), others will be related to the personal circumstances of the 
individual or household, their health, life history (for example, leaving an institution or care) or 
the income they receive. Common reasons why households feel threatened with homelessness 
and seek support include family or relationship breakdown, losing a job, being faced with 
eviction, or fleeing domestic abuse. 

It can very often be a combination of many of these factors that leads to someone needing 
support and assistance to resolve their situation. 

Covid-19 pandemic 

The Covid-19 pandemic has been a huge challenge to the sector nationally and locally.  

In March 2020, the Minister for Local Government and Homelessness wrote to local authorities 
asking them to urgently accommodate all rough sleepers and focus on the provision of 
adequate facilities to enable people to adhere to the guidance on hygiene or isolation, including 
for those who were at risk of sleeping rough.  This was known as the ‘Everyone in’ approach. 

This was followed in May 2020 with a request from the Minister for Rough Sleeping and 
Housing that when arranging move-on accommodation for people sleeping rough, local 
authorities provide short-term accommodation whilst looking for long term options. The impact 
of this being an increased number of individuals with complex needs requiring accommodating 
in the short and longer term by the Council. 

We had to refocus and respond immediately to these requests recognising the difficulties 
associated with vulnerable people with health issues in shared accommodation provision.  This 
was hugely challenging for the team, but we are very proud of the way we were able to 

“Rough sleeping is just the tip of 

the iceberg. For every two people 
who are sleeping rough on the 
streets, there are 98 who are 
homelessness but hidden from 

view” LGiU Homelessness 

Commission 2019. 

Page 41



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 6 

 

successfully cope with this challenge whilst keeping the vital housing options service accessible 
24 hours a day. 

National strategic context 

There are two key pieces of national policy that apply to homelessness and 

rough sleeping: the Homelessness Reduction Act and the Rough Sleeping 

Strategy. 

Current homelessness legislation is contained within the 1996 Housing Act, the 2002 
Homelessness Act and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017. The introduction of the 
Homelessness Reduction Act in 2018 represented the biggest changes to homelessness 
legislation in 40 years. The Act placed considerable additional duties on local authorities and 
provides significant changes to the rights of homeless people in England as it adds two new 
duties to the original statutory rehousing duty – that is the duty to prevent homelessness and 
the duty to relieve homelessness. 

Prevention is about preventing the applicant from losing their home, relief is helping the 
applicant find somewhere else to live. 

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 amends Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 and contains 
13 clauses which amend many of the existing duties and introduces a number of new duties. 
including: 

 An extension of the period a household is ‘threatened with homelessness’ from 28 to 56 
days 

 A new duty to prevent homelessness for all eligible applicants threatened with 
homelessness, regardless of priority need 

 A new duty to relieve homelessness for all eligible homeless applicants, regardless of 
priority need 

 Requiring households to agree a Personal Housing Plan 

 A new ‘duty to refer’ - public services will need to notify a local authority if they come into 
contact with someone they think may be homeless or at risk of becoming homeless 

Full details of changes introduced by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 can be found in 
factsheets produced by the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC).  

The national Rough Sleeper Strategy was published in August 2018 in response to growing 
numbers of rough sleepers and sets out the government’s commitment to halve rough sleeping 
by 2022 and end it by 2027. The strategy called on central and local government as well as 
businesses, communities, faith and voluntary groups and the general public to work together in 
new ways. The strategy was backed by £100 million funding and marked the beginning of the 
government’s ambition to ensure no one has to sleep rough again. 

There are a number of other national policy documents and measures that are relevant when 
considering homelessness and rough sleeping including: 

 Welfare reform - Changes to the benefit system over a number of years including: the 
introduction of Universal Credit; housing-related benefit restrictions for under 35s; 
housing-related benefit restrictions relating to under occupation of properties (the 
‘bedroom tax’). It has been acknowledged that there have been unintended 
consequences from the various measures introduced through welfare reform. As a 

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/homelessness-reduction-bill-policy-factsheets


 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 7 

 

result, in many parts of the country, Universal Credit is failing to support people to afford 
even the cheapest rents. 

 Reductions in public funding – The Government has consistently reduced public 
spending for the last ten years as part of its ‘austerity’ measures.  

 The Children and Social Work Act 2017 - this requires local authorities to publish a ‘local 
offer’ for care leavers up to age 25. This includes services related to health and 
wellbeing, relationships, education and training, employment, accommodation and 
participation in society.  

 The Care Act - A fundamental component of the Care Act is the ‘suitability of 
accommodation’ in meeting the at home care and support needs of older and vulnerable 
people.  

 The Domestic Abuse Act 2021 - The Domestic Abuse Act places duties on local 
authorities to assess the need for abuse support locally and produce a strategy. 

 Housing policy - The Government’s White Paper ‘Fixing our broken housing market’ 
acknowledges the scale of the problem in providing a range of housing that meets a 
cross-section of need including affordable housing for those on low incomes. The 
Government have also acknowledged that the amount of social housing available has 
been reduced as a result of the Right to Buy.   

Local strategic context 

This strategy links to a number of other strategies including: 

 Allerdale Borough Council Strategy 2020-2030 - has a strategic objective of ‘Preventing 
and reducing homelessness’. Service plans across the organisation will play their part in 
helping to reduce impact on homelessness and rough sleeping, particularly the service 
plan for Housing Options. 

 Cumbria Housing Statement 2020 – sets out a priority of ‘Supporting independent living 
and helping people achieve healthier, happier lives’. 

 Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy – the strategy aims to tackle the wider 
determinants of health, of which housing plays a key role. The Implementation Plan aims 
to ensure high quality and safe housing with appropriate support for the most vulnerable 
and those in poverty to ensure everyone can reach their potential. 

 The Allerdale Local Plan includes policies to increase the number of homes in Allerdale 
and also has policies in place to ensure new housing meets local needs, meaning more 
affordable and accessible homes and homes that will meet the needs of an ageing 
population.  

  

Page 43



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 8 

 

Homelessness in Allerdale 

Local Context 

The population of Allerdale is approximately 97,831 and is projected to increase slightly to 
99,139 by 2043.  In line with the rest of the country, Allerdale has an ageing population, but the 
population in Allerdale is ‘ageing’ at a faster rate than the population nationally. The proportion 
of people aged 65 or more in Allerdale is predicted to rise by almost 25% by 2043.  

Average household income in Allerdale is below the county and national averages and there are 
seven areas in the 10% most deprived in England for overall deprivation. Around 13% of 
children are living in low income families and 14% of households in Allerdale experience fuel 
poverty, although there is wide variation across the district. 

Levels of home ownership for the district are slightly above the national average, although there 
are much lower levels in Workington and Maryport which also see the highest rates of social 
rented properties.  The proportion of social rented properties are also higher than the national 
average.  The median cost of a dwelling is 5.5 times the median household income, meaning 
there is a shortage of affordable housing to buy.  The areas facing particularly marked 
affordability issues are Keswick and Cockermouth.  The private rented sector in Allerdale is 
smaller than in many other areas. Housing affordability is therefore a real concern in Allerdale 
and the current housing stock profile can limit the ability of many lower income local households 
to meet their housing need. 

Homelessness review findings 

329  
homeless applications in 

2020/21 

[graphic] 
Single people are over-

represented 

25-34 year olds 
represent the largest 

proportion of applicants 

[graphic] 
Mental health is a frequently 

recurring support need 

84%  

of ‘prevention’ cases in 
2020/21 were helped to 
secure accommodation 

More of those presenting 
have complex, multiple 

support needs 

38 
applicants were assessed as 
rough sleeping at application 

in 2020/21 

Domestic abuse cases rose 

substantially between 

2018/19 and 2020/21 

64%  

of households owed a 
prevention duty had 
dependent children 

 

 Between April 2020 and March 2021, 329 households were assessed and identified as 
being owed a specific duty. This represented a slight increase on the previous year, but 
overall numbers have remained relatively steady since April 2018.  

Page 44



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 9 

 

 The main reasons given for homelessness in Allerdale are: private rented tenancies 
ending, family/friends no longer willing to accommodate, relationship breakdown and 
domestic abuse. 

 In terms of the age of the applicant accepted as being owed a specific duty, the highest 
proportion were in the 25 to 34 age range.  

 Around a third of households owed a prevention duty (to prevent the applicant from 
losing their home) in 2020/21 contained single people, and just over half contained 
dependent children.  Whereas nearly 70% of those owed a relief duty (to help the 
applicant find somewhere to live) were single person households.   

 During 2018/19 and 2019/20 about half of applications came from households before 
they became homeless (prevention), but in 2020/21 this dropped to around 30% as a 
result of a halt on evictions and the ‘Everyone in’ approach during the height of the 
pandemic. 

 37% of those accepted as being owed a specific duty in 2020/21 were assessed as 
rough sleeping or were of no fixed abode at the time of their application. 

 More of those presenting have complex, multiple support needs. The total number of 
support needs identified doubled between 2018/19 and 2019/20, and increased by a 
further 60% in 2020/21.   

 The main support needs identified are mental health issues, physical ill health, an 
offending history, and repeat homelessness. Drug and alcohol dependency are also 
common issues seen.  

 Domestic abuse cases have risen substantially since 2018/19. 

 Allerdale’s reported rough sleeping statistics are low compared with other areas of the 
country, but there are issues with ‘hidden homelessness’ as the number of those 
presenting with rough sleeping support needs far outnumber those recorded on the day 
of the rough sleeper counts.  

 The number of households in temporary accommodation increased rapidly from 8 in 
February 2020 to 40 households in May 2020 in response to the ‘Everyone in’ campaign.  
This meant a short term increase in the use of bed and breakfast accommodation.   

 

Challenges, barriers and opportunities  

A number of challenges and barriers have been identified through our review of homelessness 

and in particular through engagement sessions in the development of this Strategy including:  

 Improving information available so that anyone at risk of homelessness knows how to 
access the advice and support they need 

 Ensuring that there is ‘no wrong door’ and that there are no barriers to referring those at 
risk of homelessness 

 The complexity of some homeless individuals and families’ needs 

 The availability of suitable and affordable accommodation within the local housing 
market 

 A lack of floating support or supported accommodation projects in the district 

Page 45



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 10 

 

 Although there are positive examples of effective joint working initiatives there is 
sometimes limited co-ordination between services 

 Sharing information about homeless individuals and families 

 The geographical and rural nature of Allerdale in terms of accessing services 

 Successful securing of funding for initiatives, but the short-term nature of funding is an 
issue for the council and other organisations 

Engagement with stakeholders also identified opportunities for better working including:  

 Co-ordinating through meetings and forums to facilitate better partnership working and 
improved information sharing 

 Providing opportunities for learning from each other’s experiences, share training and 
develop mutual trust 

 Providing better information and sign posting for residents and partner agencies 

 Looking for opportunities to work together to access funding  

 Exploring options around the use of volunteers to strengthen support services  
 

  

Page 46



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 11 

 

Achievements 
The following list highlights just some of the actions that have been 

delivered over recent years to support homeless households and 

individuals: 

 Worked collaboratively with other Cumbrian councils to secure funding from central 
government to expand the service offer to include much needed support staff including a 
Rapid Rehousing Pathways Officer, a Rough Sleeper Coordinator and a Private Rented 
Sector Officer. 

 Launched the Rough Sleeper Accommodation Scheme in partnership with Home Group 
which provides 12 accommodation units for those with medium to high level support 
needs.  

 Secured funding for a Crisis and Prevention Support Officer to help victims of domestic 
abuse and sexual exploitation at risk of homelessness. 

 Successfully implemented the Homelessness Reduction Act. 

 Invited the Local Government Association to conduct a Peer Review of our service to 
help us identify areas for improvement.  

 Undertook an internal restructure to help improve delivery of the Housing Options 
Service.  

 Increased temporary accommodation units to meet service demand, including converting 
two council-owned buildings. 

 Worked in partnership to develop a new Cumbria Choice Allocation Policy to ensure we 
can discharge our duties under the Housing Act and prevent and relieve homelessness.  

 Improved joint working practices with our key partners including the introduction of task 
and finish working groups with key actions and objectives.  

 Housing Options staff are now embedded within the Allerdale Local Focus Hub which 
brings together over 20 statutory and voluntary sector partners who work together to 
problem solve, with a particular focus on anti-social behaviour and community safety.    

 Successfully responded to the ‘Everyone in’ campaign to protect rough sleepers during 
the pandemic.  

 Secured additional funding, including National Lottery, Rough Sleeping Initiative, 
Domestic Abuse funding and COMF monies to assist with accommodation during the 
pandemic. 

 Introduction of regular contact with representatives from DLUHC to ensure best practice. 

  

Page 47



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 12 

 

Principles 
It became clear whilst developing this strategy that there were a number of recurring themes 
that were important to any approach to addressing homelessness.  These have been adopted 
as a set of two main principles that should run throughout the strategy and be embedded as 
‘business as usual’:  

Person-centred approaches 

The focus is on the person rather than on processes. Every situation is different and each 
person/household facing homelessness or already homeless will have their own background, 
reasons and needs.  There should be ‘no wrong door’ so people can access the support they 
need at the time they need it and should only ‘tell their story once’. Listening to those with lived 
experience is an important part of this.  

Working together (partnership approach) 

No single agency can effectively prevent and reduce homelessness.  Only through collaborative 
and joined-up working can we really meet the needs of our communities and hope to reduce 
homelessness and end rough sleeping.  Effective joint working will ensure that any funding 
available can be maximised in terms of its effectiveness – which is particularly important given 
the short-term nature of current funding initiatives. 

…………………………………………………………… 
Partnership working remains at the core of our strategic approach and multi-agency approaches 
will be key to achieving many of our objectives. We actively participate in many partnership 
approaches and forums all of which contribute to the homeless agenda, but we will always 
consider ways to improve relationships and approaches.   

Current partnership arrangements include: 

Cumbria Homelessness Forum – set up to allow the sharing of best practice and knowledge 
between the six district councils in Cumbria.  This has led to successful joint procurement and 
collaboration on funding bids.   

Allerdale Local Focus Hub – this is a multi-agency approach to dealing with anti-social 
behaviour.   Housing Options officers regularly attend MARAC (Multi Agency Risk Assessment 
Conference) meetings to discuss high level domestic abuse cases; and MAPPA (Multi Agency 
Public Protection Arrangements) meetings to discuss high level cases for those leaving prison.  
This multi-agency approach provides a deeper understanding of the issues facing some clients 
and means there can be early intervention for those who may have more complex housing 
needs. 

Joint protocols – we have protocols in place across the county setting out how partners will work 
together to prevent/relieve homelessness for particular groups.  This includes the Joint Protocol 
for Homeless 16-17 year olds and a West Cumbria Hospital Discharge Protocol. We are 
working with partners to put a formal protocol in place covering those being discharged from 
custody. 

Page 48



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 13 

 

West Cumbria Domestic Abuse Partnership – this partnership exists to address and meet the 
specialist accommodation-based support needs of victims and children experiencing or at risk of 
homelessness as a direct result of domestic abuse. 

The Housing Options team also work closely with partners such as the police, social services, 
health services, the probation team and other agencies and third sector organisations to make 
sure that people can access the right help and advice to give them a greater chance of 
maintaining tenancies and keeping their homes.  

……………………………………………………………  

Page 49



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 14 

 

Priority 1: Reduce levels of hidden 

homelessness and rough sleeping 

Allerdale’s reported rough sleeping statistics are low compared with other areas of the country, 

but the number of those presenting with rough sleeping support needs far outnumber those 

recorded on the day of the rough sleeper counts. In 2020/21 37% of those accepted as being 

owed a specific duty were assessed as rough sleeping or were of no fixed abode at the time of 

their application 

So, whilst the formal counts may indicate that 

rough sleeping is not a particular issue in our 

area the reality is that rough sleeping in the 

district can be hidden with people sleeping in 

their vehicles or in isolated locations rather than 

in obvious locations on town streets.  We also 

know we have an issue with ‘hidden 

homelessness’ – often referred to as ‘sofa 

surfing’, people sleeping at friends or families 

homes, but without a home of their own.  

Tackling this issue requires a close and co-

ordinated multi-agency response to ensure that 

anyone sleeping rough or at risk of sleeping 

rough in the Allerdale area is aware of the 

services available and is able to access the 

necessary support to help them off the streets 

and to address the problems that led to them 

becoming homeless.  We already have two 

externally funded roles specifically to identify 

rough sleepers, engage them with services and 

support them for a further 6 months in general needs accommodation once they are ready for 

move on.  This engagement also provides us with valuable insight into the lived experiences of 

those clients.  We will be applying for further funding to ensure that these roles can continue.  

Actions: 

1. Deliver our identified rough sleeping actions to meet the DLUHC Rough Sleeping Strategy 
target of ending rough sleeping by 2027. 

2. Review existing support arrangements and move on options, with the introduction of a 
‘Housing First’ style service model of supported accommodation.  

3. Develop a co-ordinated approach with partners through our Rough Sleeper Co-ordinator 
to ensure early intervention and appropriate support.  

  

The Rough Sleeper Coordinator is 

funded through the government’s 

Rough Sleeper Initiative and is a key 

role.  The Co-ordinator engages 

directly with those who have slept 

rough for a long time and those 

identified as at high risk of rough 

sleeping to offer the services of the 

homeless team and outline the options 

available.  The Rapid Rehousing 

Officer (also government funded) 

provide ongoing support so that 

tenancies can be acquired and 

maintained. 

We are seeing some good results 

through these posts, demonstrating the 

impact that resourcing more than just 

crisis accommodation can have. 

 

Page 50



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 15 

 

Priority 2: Prioritise prevention  
Homelessness prevention is about tackling issues before they become a crisis that could lead to 
a person losing their home.  Our view is that we cannot effectively prevent homelessness 
without going above and beyond our statutory duties, 
helping to tackle the causes of homelessness and help 
people change their lives rather than just put a roof over 
their heads.   

For some time our approach has been to offer support to 
those that that fall outside of our statutory duties where we 
can, but we want to ensure that this is embedded as core 
practice. This includes a focus on working with those who 
may not be considered a ‘priority need’ or ‘intentionally 
homeless’ as early support is one of the ways that we can 
help to prevent people from becoming homeless at a later 
date.   

The Duty to Refer is important here – this places a duty on certain statutory authorities to refer 
anyone who is known to be homeless to the housing authority (with consent) including the 
Department of Work and Pensions and the Prison Service. These referrals mean that we can 
work with clients from an earlier stage in close co-operation with our partners. 

Actions: 

1. Strengthen ongoing work with external partners including delivery of training, on the 
statutory Duty to Refer, which enables earlier identification of homelessness.  

2. Further develop upstream prevention activities such as signposting to financial support 
and advice, mediation with landlords through the Private Rented Sector Officer.  

3. Monitor available data on those at risk of eviction and proactively provide information 
and advice to those households (including information from RPs about potential 
evictions, Rapid Rehousing and Private Sector Officer) 

4. Put in place and regularly review joint protocols with partners, for example around those 
leaving custody.   

5. Support those who have previously been homeless into long term suitable 
accommodation to ensure the cycle of the revolving door of homelessness ends (e.g. 
benefits advice or working with landlords).  

  

“The most successful approaches 

to prevention are those that start 

as early as possible to identify 

people at risk of homelessness.” 
Everybody in: How to end 

homelessness in Great Britain, 

Crisis 2018 

Page 51



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 16 

 

Priority 3: Make sure there is 

appropriate support in place 
Very often tackling homelessness is not just about putting a roof over someone’s head, but it’s 
about those wrap around services that support a person or household. Ensuring that the 
appropriate support is available for those who are homeless is vital if we are to prevent them 
from becoming homeless again in the future. Partnership working is essential here. 

In Allerdale more of those presenting as homeless have complex, multiple support needs and 
we have seen the proportion increase year on year over the past three years.  The main support 
needs identified are mental health issues, physical ill health and an offending history.  Drug and 
alcohol dependency are also very common issues.   

Domestic abuse is an increasingly significant issue in Allerdale and we have seen domestic 
abuse cases rise substantially since 2018/19. Our Crisis and Prevention Support Officer 
(additional government funding) helps to raise awareness of the help available and support 
victims of domestic abuse, and we have a strong multi-agency approach established through 
the Local Focus Hub. 

We have a good track record in recent years of securing additional funding to provide 
discretionary wrap around services supporting our statutory offer, but much of this funding is 
short term in nature which does present challenges for longer term planning.   

Actions: 

1. Provide safe and supported accommodation for those experiencing domestic abuse, in 
line with the new Domestic Abuse Act 2021 

2. Work with our Social Care Partners in an accountable and collaborative way to achieve 
successful outcomes for young people    

3. Provide appropriate support for those with multiple complex needs, including mental 
health, those who have experience with the criminal justice system, those with 
substance misuse issues and those with a history of entrenched rough sleeping by 
utilising the Rough Sleeper Accommodation Project.  

4. Actively seek out funding opportunities to ensure the continuation of support, including 
the Rapid Rehousing Pathway Scheme, the Rough Sleeper Coordinator, Private Rented 
Sector Officer and the Domestic Abuse Support Officer. 

5. Ensuring the voices of service users are heard by ensuring active reflection on those that 
have been through the service to provide feedback, with the work of the Rapid 
Rehousing Pathway Officer.   

  

Page 52



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 17 

 

Priority 4: Make sure there are suitable 

accommodation options available 

This is about providing accommodation of the right type and in the right places to ensure that 
people are safe, that they can sustain their tenancies and rebuild their lives and are more 
resilient to any potential future crises.   

Suitable temporary accommodation is important to be able to offer an immediate safe place for 
homeless households.  The Council currently has 10 temporary accommodation units, two of 
which are adapted with additional security measures for victims of domestic abuse.  During the 
pandemic to respond to the ‘Everyone in’ campaign we have had to rely on some bed and 
breakfast accommodation on a temporary basis to cope with a sudden sharp increase in 
numbers, but bed and breakfast is obviously not a preferred choice of temporary 
accommodation.  

We work closely with local Registered 
Providers (housing associations) to help 
households retain or acquire suitable 
accommodation. The Cumbrian local 
authorities and the majority of the 
Registered Providers have an established 
partnership to provide a Choice Based 
Lettings System across the county called 
Cumbria Choice. The partnership has 
adopted a shared allocations policy and 
this is the means by which social housing 
property is let in all the districts. Through 
this system the Housing Options team 
can support applications to ensure 
households can be rehoused as soon as 
possible.  

Additional government funding has been 
secured for a Private Rented Sector Officer (shared with Copeland Council) to try to identify and 
engage with landlords in the area and look at incentive options such as the ‘help to rent’ 
scheme.   

Actions: 

1. Use performance monitoring to estimate future housing demand by utilising current and 
previous data to ensure a sufficient supply of temporary accommodation and limit the 
use of bed and breakfast accommodation. 

2. Strengthen relationships with private sector landlords to ensure we have access to 
alternative housing solutions, including shared accommodation options for young 
people, enabling a referral process for those at risk of eviction, and improving quality of 
stock through our Private Sector team.  

3. Work with our Registered Providers to ensure the allocations scheme reflects local 
priorities and reasonable preference is given to discharge our prevention and relief 
duties.   

Rough Sleeping Accommodation Project 

A recent successful bid to the government in 
partnership with Home Group has enabled 
us to provide supported accommodation for 
rough sleepers across Allerdale in 12 high 
quality "move on" homes for clients. Clients 
will be able to live in these homes for up to 
two years with the benefit of wrap around 
support to help them achieve their goals in 
independent living. The key objective is that 
our clients will be able to access social 
housing and assured tenancies using Home 
Group’s pathway. The scheme went live in 
December 2021. 

 

Page 53



 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy_draftv0.3 18 

 

Delivering and monitoring the strategy 

In developing this strategy, we are striving to be aspirational, but also realistic in our ambition.  

There are a number of factors that may impact on delivery over the coming years.  The short 
term nature of many of the government’s funding streams to provide additional support services 
for those facing homelessness is an issue that makes longer term planning more challenging.  
We have been successful in securing funding in partnership with other councils and agencies 
over recent years and plan to continue a collaborative approach to seeking funding. 

The rising costs of living currently being seen nationally driven to a large extent by rapidly 
increasing fuel bills are a cause for concern. We will monitor the impacts of these and adapt our 
actions accordingly. 

A detailed delivery plan, setting out what actions and projects we will be undertaking will be 
developed as a separate document. 

 

 

Page 54



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  1 
 

 

 

  

Homelessness and rough sleeping in 
Allerdale 

Summary of review findings 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  2 
 

Contents 
 

Introduction ................................................................................................................ 3 

Key findings ................................................................................................................ 4 

Homelessness acceptances ....................................................................................... 5 

Reason for loss of accommodation ......................................................................... 5 

Support needs of households assessed as owed a specific duty ........................... 6 

Type of accommodation at time of application ........................................................ 7 

Age of main applicants ............................................................................................ 8 

Household type at time of application ..................................................................... 8 

Ethnicity and nationality of applicants ..................................................................... 9 

Employment status of main applicants .................................................................... 9 

Prevention duty outcomes .......................................................................................... 9 

Relief duty outcomes ................................................................................................ 11 

Main duty decisions and outcomes .......................................................................... 12 

Households in temporary accommodation ............................................................... 13 

Rough Sleeping ........................................................................................................ 13 

 

  

Page 56



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  3 
 

Introduction 

The Homelessness Act 2002 placed a duty on every Local Housing Authority to produce and 

publish a Homelessness Strategy no less than once every five years and to keep in under 

continuous review. The purpose of the strategy is to determine the main causes of 

homelessness and to put in place plans and operational actions for the Council to tackle 

them.  Before we produce a strategy, the Council needs to carry out a homelessness review, 

to ensure that the strategy is relevant to the local community and any actions are effective to 

deal with homelessness in the area.   

The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 was enacted in April 2018 and changed the way 
local authorities deliver homelessness services by placing duties on them to intervene at 
earlier stages to prevent homelessness in their areas. The key aim of the HRA is to reduce 
the risk of homelessness at an early stage and thereby reduce the number of households 
owed a main duty and being placed in temporary accommodation.  The Act and associated 
guidance requires housing authorities to provide homelessness services to all those 
affected, not just those who have ‘priority need’ – i.e. authorities are now legally required to 
undertake a ‘Prevention’ and a ‘Relief’ duty in addition to the already legislated for ‘Main’ 
duty. 

Local authorities must now: 

 Assess all eligible households’ cases and agree a plan if they are considered to be 
threatened with homelessness within 56 days or homeless. 

 Prevention duty – the applicant and the authority agree ‘reasonable steps’ to take to 
help prevent the homelessness of all eligible households threatened with 
homelessness within 56 days; 

 Relief duty - If homelessness cannot be prevented, the applicant and the authority 
agree ‘reasonable steps’ to take and agree a plan to help all homeless and eligible 
applicants to secure suitable accommodation for at least six months (subject to 
circumstances); 

 Main duty - If homelessness cannot be prevented or relieved they will then be 
assessed as Local authorities in England have a duty to provide suitable temporary 
accommodation for those that have local connection for unintentionally homeless 
households who fall into a ‘priority need’ category under Part 7 of the Housing Act 
1996 (as amended). 

A note on the data: 

The Homelessness Reduction Act has led to a change in the way homelessness data is 
collected. This paper predominantly provides data from April 2018 to date from the Council’s 
systems, but also outlines some historical trends to provide additional context. Please note 
that it is not possible to compare current data with historical data. 

When reading the statistical tables and comparing figures across the years, it is important to 
remember the impact Covid-19 has had on many households and the knock-on effect on the 
Council’s homelessness statistics for 2020/21. At first, the increase in presentations was 
driven by those who were already homeless, but not known to the local authority (e.g. sofa 
surfers).  As the economic effects of the various lockdowns became clear, households who 
had been struggling financially before the pandemic could not afford to pay their housing 
costs. This is likely to continue to have an impact during 2021/22 as legislation to prevent 
private evictions ended in May 2021. 

Page 57

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/7/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted


 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  4 
 

Key findings 
 Between April 2020 and March 2021, 329 households were assessed and identified 

as being owed a specific duty. This represented a slight increase on the previous 
year, but overall numbers have remained relatively steady since April 2018.   

 The main reasons given for homelessness in Allerdale are: private rented tenancies 
ending, family/friends no longer willing to accommodate, relationship breakdown and 
domestic abuse.  

 In terms of the age of the applicant accepted as being owed a specific duty, the 
highest proportion were in the 25 to 34 age range.   

 Around a third of households owed a prevention duty (to prevent the applicant from 
losing their home) in 2020/21 contained single people, and just over half contained 
dependent children.  Whereas nearly 70% of those owed a relief duty (to help the 
applicant find somewhere to live) were single person households.    

 During 2018/19 and 2019/20 about half of applications came from households before 
they became homeless (prevention), but in 2020/21 this dropped to around 30% as a 
result of a halt on evictions and the ‘Everyone in’ approach during the height of the 
pandemic.  

 37% of those accepted as being owed a specific duty in 2020/21 were assessed as 
rough sleeping or were of no fixed abode at the time of their application.  

 More of those presenting have complex, multiple support needs. The total number of 
support needs identified doubled between 2018/19 and 2019/20, and increased by a 
further 60% in 2020/21.    

 The main support needs identified are mental health issues, physical ill health, an 
offending history, and repeat homelessness. Drug and alcohol dependency are also 
common issues seen.   

 Domestic abuse cases have risen substantially since 2018/19.  

 Allerdale’s reported rough sleeping statistics are low compared with other areas of 
the country, but there are issues with ‘hidden homelessness’ as the number of those 
presenting with rough sleeping support needs far outnumber those recorded on the 

day of the rough sleeper counts.   

 The number of households in temporary accommodation increased rapidly from 8 in 
February 2020 to over 40 households in May 2020 in response to the ‘Everyone in’ 
campaign.  This meant a short term increase in the use of bed and breakfast 
accommodation.  

  

Page 58



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  5 
 

Homelessness acceptances  

Between April 2020 and March 2021, 329 households were assessed and identified as being 

owed a duty. The table below shows that during 2020/21, there was a slight increase in the 

total number of assessments made, but that the numbers assessed have not risen 

significantly over the past three years.  

 

Table 1: Number of households assessed and owed a prevention or relief duty  

 2018/19 2019/20  2020/21 

Prevention 151 144 102 

Relief 159 167 227 

Total 310 311 329 

 

The key difference is in the split of the numbers owed a prevention or relief duty.  In 2018/19 

and 2019/20 there was almost a 50:50 split. In 2019/20 46% of cases were assisted at the 

prevention stage, which is 3% lower than the national average, but in line with the Cumbrian 

average.  However, in 2020/21 this changed to a 30:70 split (30% prevention, 70% relief) as 

we saw many more presentations from those already homeless during the pandemic – this 

included households who may previously have been staying with friends or family (including 

those referred to as ‘sofa-surfing’) who were not able to continue those arrangements once 

the pandemic took hold.   

Reason for loss of accommodation 

The table below provides the main reasons for the loss of the last settled home of 

households owed a specific duty in Allerdale across 2018/19 to 2020/21. 

Table 2: Reasons for loss of last settled accommodation for households assessed as 
owed a prevention or relief duty  

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Family no longer willing or able to accommodate 50 56 87 

Domestic Abuse 25 42 51 

Relationships with partner ended no violent 
breakdown 

50 47 49 

End of private rented tenancy – assured shorthold 
tenancy 

56 42 28 

Left institution with no accommodation available 6 9 13 

Friends no longer willing or able to accommodate 5 8 12 

End of Private Rented Tenancy – not assured 
shorthold tenancy 

4 8 11 

Property dis-repair 4 5 9 

End of social rented tenancy 12 13 9 

Eviction from supported housing 12 12 8 

Non racially motivated other motivated violence or 
harassment 

5 6 6 

Fire flood or other emergency 1 1 2 

Mortgage Repossessions 1 1 0 

Left HM forces 0 0 0 

Page 59



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  6 
 

Required to leave accommodation provided by 
home office as asylum support 

0 0 0 

Racially motivated violence or harassment 1 2 0 

Other 48 61 44 

Total 280 313 329 

In 2018/19, the main reasons that settled accommodation was lost were; a result of private 
rented tenancies ending (assured shorthold tenancy), family no longer willing or able to 
accommodate, a non-violent relationship breakdown and unspecified other reasons. 

In 2019/20, there was a substantial rise in the number of domestic abuse cases as a reason 
for losing settled accommodation. Whereas the number of those leaving accommodation 
due to the end of a private rented tenancy fell in comparison to the previous year. 

As expected, in 2020/21 with the onset of the pandemic there was a reduction in the number 
of private rented tenancies ending and an increase in family being unwilling to 
accommodate. 

Support needs of households assessed as owed a specific duty 

The table below provides a detailed breakdown of the types of support required of the 
households accepted as being owed a specific duty with support needs.  Households can 
have multiple support needs so the total number of support needs is not equal to the number 
of households with support needs.  

Table 3: Support needs of households assessed as owed a prevention or relief duty  

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

History of mental health problems 59 144 202 

Offending history 31 65 129 

History of repeat homelessness 31 47 105 

History of rough sleeping 24 36 68 

Physical ill health and disability 32 72 97 

At risk of – has experiences of domestic abuse 15 47 76 

Drug dependency needs 19 49 56 

Alcohol Dependency Needs 15 34 29 

Learning disability 5 14 29 

At risk of – has experienced abuse (non-domestic) 8 6 25 

Care leavers 21+year 2 5 22 

At risk of /has experiences sexual abuse/exploitation 2 8 17 

Young Person aged 18-25 years requiring support to 
manage independently 

4 12 17 

Served in HM Forces 5 3 8 

Care leavers 18-20 years 2 6 7 

Access to Education Employment or Training 0 2 6 

Old Age 3 2 5 

Young Parent requiring support to manage 
independently 

0 3 2 

Legacy cases: support needs not known 4 6 1 

Young Person aged 16-17 years 1 3 1 

Former asylum seeker 0 0 0 

Total 260 561 902 

 

Page 60



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  7 
 

The total number of support needs identified doubled between 2018/19 and 2019/20, and 
increased by a further 60% in 2020/21. This shows that more of those presenting have 
complex, multiple support needs. 

Across all years, the main support needs of those households owed a prevention or relief 
duty are: 

 experiencing mental health problems  

 with physical ill health 

 with an offending history 

 repeat homelessness 

During 2019/20, drug dependency became one of the highest support needs and there were 
significant increases in those requiring support for alcohol dependency. In 2020/21, domestic 
abuse numbers increased. 

Whilst the figures for young people requiring specific support are not high, the numbers are 
increasing each year. 

Type of accommodation at time of application 

Table 4: Accommodation at time of application for households assessed as owed a 

prevention or relief duty  

 2018/19 2019/20  2020/21 

No Fixed Abode 63 80 83 

Living with family 73 56 75 

Rough sleeping in judgement of an assessor 11 24 38 

Living with friends 43 35 32 

Private Rented Sector – self contained 50 40 23 

Homeless on departure from institution custody 4 14 20 

Tied accommodation 0 1 12 

Temporary accommodation 5 4 8 

Caravan / house boat 9 2 7 

Social Rented Supported Housing or Hostel 10 6 4 

Registered Provider Tenant 13 15 4 

Owner Occupier 10 14 3 

Shared Ownership 0 0 1 

Private Rented Sector lodging not with family or 
friends 

2 4 2 

Homeless on departure from institution – 
hospital/general 

0 4 2 

Refuge 0 0 1 

Council tenant 1 1 0 

Looked after children placement 0 1 0 

Homeless on departure from institution – 
hospital/psychiatric 

3 1 0 

Other 13 12 14 

Total 310 314 329 

 

At the time of application, accommodation of households owed a prevention or relief duty 

was mainly: 

 living with family 

Page 61



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  8 
 

 living with friends  

 private rented sector (self-contained) 

 No Fixed Abode (NFA) 

During 2019/20, the number of households owed a prevention or relief duty on departure 

from a custodial institution rose by 10 households and households who were rough sleeping 

at the time of presentation doubled. In 2020/21, the number of households losing tied 

accommodation increased. 

Age of main applicants 

Figure 1: Age of main applicants assessed as owed a prevention or relief duty  

 

In each year, applicants of working age accounted for most main applicants. The number of 
applicants aged 25-34 was significantly higher than the other age groups. 

Household type at time of application 

In all years, single person households made up the largest proportion of those owed a 
prevention duty. Numbers fell in 2020/21 which reflects the lower number of prevention 
cases in that year. Families with one, two or three children accounted for a high proportion of 
household types in all years. 

In 2018/19, households of eight people or five children made up almost 10% of households 
assessed as owed a prevention duty, but this fell in later years. Similarly, households of six 
or seven people or four children account for 11% of households owed a prevention duty in 
2019/20, a rise from 6% the previous year but this figure fell again in 2020/21. 

The household type of those owed a relief duty was similar across all years. Single person 
households and families with one or two children made up the majority of households owed 
a relief duty. There was a fall in the number of larger households assessed as owed a relief 
duty in 2019/20, whereas the number of couples more than doubled. In 2020/21, the number 
of larger households increased again and the number of couples remained steady. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

16-17 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75+
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Page 62



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  9 
 

Ethnicity and nationality of applicants 

White British main applicants account for almost 95% of those assessed as owed a 
prevention or relief duty. This reflects the ethnic make-up of Allerdale, and the wider 
Cumbrian community. 

In all years, most applicants were UK nationals habitually resident in the UK. In 2019/20 and 
2020/21, there were a small number of UK nationals returning from overseas. This is 
potentially a result of Brexit. 

Employment status of main applicants 

In 2018/19, most main applicants assessed as owed a prevention or relief duty were working 

less than 30 hours a week. In 2019/20, the largest number of applicants were registered as 

unemployed and in 2020/21, most were not working due to long term sickness or disability. 

 

Table 5: Employment status of main applicants assessed as owed a prevention or 

relief duty  

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Registered unemployed 65 126 113 

Not working because of long term sickness or 
disability 

47 88 105 

Working 30 hours per week or more 46 53 38 

Training scheme or apprenticeship 0 0 26 

Not registered unemployed but seeking work 17 5 15 

At home not seeking work including looking after the 
home or family 

19 23 9 

Retired including retired early 8 14 7 

Working less than 30 hours per week 90 50 1 

Full-time student 3 4 1 

Other 4 13 5 

Don’t know / Refused 31 6 5 

Total 330 382 325 

Prevention duty outcomes 

In terms of the ‘Prevention duty’ housing authorities have a duty to take reasonable steps to 
help prevent any eligible person (regardless of priority need status, intentionality and 
whether they have a local connection) who is threatened with homelessness from becoming 
homeless. This means either helping them to stay in their current accommodation or helping 
them to find a new place to live before they become actually homeless. The prevention duty 
continues for 56 days unless it is brought to an end by an event such as accommodation 
being secured for the person, or by their becoming homeless. 

There are a number of reasons why the prevention duty can be ended including: 

 The applicant has suitable accommodation for at least six months; 

 The applicant refuses a suitable offer of accommodation; 

 The applicant becomes homeless intentionally; 

 The applicant is no longer eligible for assistance; 

 The applicant withdraws their homelessness application. 

Page 63



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  10 
 

Table 6: Reason for households' prevention duty ending  

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Secured alternative accommodation for 6 months 52 46 38 

Secured alternative accommodation for 12 months 40 36 33 

Secured existing accommodation for 6 months 14 26 11 

Contact lost 4 7 8 

    

Withdrew application, applicant deceased 5 1 3 

Secured existing accommodation for 12 or more 
months 

1 4 3 

56 days or more expired and no further action 18 15 1 

No longer eligible 1 1 0 

Refused suitable accommodation 9 6 0 

Refused to co-operate 1 0 1 

Homeless 0 1 0 

Total 145 143 98 

 

In Allerdale the prevention duty was mainly ended due to the household having secured 
alternative accommodation for either six or 12 months (over 80% of cases in 2019/20 and 
almost three quarters of cases in 2020/21). Some households went through the 56-day 
period and required no further action, although this number decreased dramatically in 
2020/21. This is higher prevention rate (for those owed a prevention duty) ending with 
secured accommodation than that for England. 

In all reporting periods, most households had secured a registered provider tenancy at the 
end of the prevention duty, with a self-contained private rented tenancy the second most 
common type of accommodation secured. There were a number of households where the 
type of accommodation secured is not known, however this decreased during 2020/21.  

Table 7: Main prevention activity that resulted in accommodation secured for 
households at end of prevention duty  

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Accommodation secured by LA or organisation delivering 
housing option service 

59 79 44 

Negotiation/Mediation work to secure return to family or friend 5 4 11 

Help to secure accommodation found by applicant with 
financial payment 

6 4 11 

Help to secure accommodation found by applicant without 
financial payment 

26 11 9 

Supported housing provided 9 13 5 

Housing related support to sustain accommodation 3 11 3 

Negotiation/Mediation advocacy work to prevent 
eviction/repossession 

4 3 2 

Financial payments used for other purposes not arrears or to 
secure new accommodation 

2 0 0 

Financial payments to reduce rent service charge or 
mortgage arrears 

2 0 0 

Debt advice 1 0 0 

No activity advice and information provided 28 18 9 

Total 145 143 94 

Page 64



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  11 
 

The activities that resulted in accommodation being secured for a household owed a 
prevention duty are shown in the table below.  In all years, the main prevention activity was 
accommodation secured by the Housing Options service. The ‘no activity advice and 
information provided’ option means that the household has not received a positive outcome 
although the Housing Options team has attempted to help.  

Relief duty outcomes 

If the applicant is already homeless, or becomes homeless despite activity during the 
prevention stage, the reasonable steps the local authority must take will be focused on 
helping the applicant to secure accommodation. This relief duty lasts for 56 days unless 
ended in another way. If the housing authority has reason to believe a homeless applicant 
may be eligible for assistance and have a priority need they must be provided with interim 
accommodation. 

There are a number of reasons why the relief duty can be ended including: 

 The applicant has suitable accommodation for at least six months; 

 The applicant refuses a suitable offer of accommodation; 

 The applicant becomes homeless intentionally; 

 The applicant is no longer eligible for assistance; 

 The applicant withdraws their homelessness application. 

Table 8: Reason for households' relief duty ending  

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Secured accommodation for 6 months 85 73 121 

Secured accommodation for 12 months 27 38 36 

Contact lost 8 24 34 

Withdrew application applicant deceased 12 9 11 

Refused final accommodation or final part 6 
offer 

11 13 10 

56 days elapsed 1 4 3 

Local connection referral accepted by other LA 3 0 3 

Intentionally homeless from accommodation 
provided 

4 4 1 

No longer eligible 1 0 0 

Notice served due to refusal to co-operate 1 0 0 

Total 153 165 219 

 

In Allerdale the relief duty mainly ended due to the household having secured alternative 
accommodation for either six or 12 months. The number of households where contact was 
lost has increased significantly during 2019/20 and continued to increase in 2020/21. 

The main ways that accommodation was secured in 2020/21 were: a third (31.9%) of the 
accommodation was secured through the Housing Options Service, 17.8% was through 
being accommodated in supported housing, 14.2% were helped to secure accommodation 
through the support of a financial payment, and another 11.4% were helped to secure 
accommodation without a financial payment. 

In a small number of cases households have not received a positive outcome although the 
Housing Options team has attempted to help.  

Page 65



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  12 
 

Main duty decisions and outcomes 

If homelessness is not successfully prevented or relieved, a housing authority will owe the 
main housing duty to applicants who are eligible, have a priority need for accommodation 
and are not homeless intentionally. Certain categories of household, such as pregnant 
women, families with children, and households that are homeless due to an emergency such 
as a fire or flood, have priority need if homeless. Other groups may be assessed as having 
priority need because they are vulnerable as a result of old age, mental ill health, physical 
disability, having been in prison or care or as a result of becoming homeless due to domestic 
abuse. 

Under the main housing duty, housing authorities must ensure that suitable accommodation 
is available for the applicant and their household until the duty is brought to an end, usually 
through the offer of a settled home. The duty can also be brought to an end for other 
reasons, such as the applicant turning down a suitable offer of temporary accommodation or 
because they are no longer eligible for assistance. 

Table 9: Outcome of main duty decisions for eligible households  

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Homeless + priority need + unintentionally 
homeless (acceptance) 

4 8 4 

Homeless Priority + intentionally homeless 9 9 9 

Not homeless 3 1 1 

Homeless + no priority need 31 32 35 

Not eligible for assistance 1 0 0 

Lost contact prior to assessment 0 1 0 

Total 48 51 49 

 

Numbers of main duty decisions represent a small proportion of presentations. 

The table above shows the outcome for all households assessed for the main duty. Across 
all years shown the majority of households were not accepted during this time as being 
owed a main duty – i.e. they were homeless, but not in priority need. In other cases 
households were found to be intentionally homeless. 

During 2018/19, of the households that were accepted as homeless (in priority need and 

unintentionally homeless) most received a social housing offer. In 2019/20 to date, 

applicants received either a social housing offer, became intentionally homeless from 

temporary accommodation. 

Table 10: Priority need category of households owed a main duty  

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Vulnerable – Domestic Abuse 1 1 1 

Vulnerable – Other special reason 1 1 0 

Includes dependent children 1 1 1 

Includes pregnant women 1 1 1 
Physical disability/Ill health 0 2 2 

Vulnerable – mental health problems 0 2 2 

Total  4 8 7 

 

The small numbers of priority need households were fairly evenly spread across the different 

categories.  

Page 66



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  13 
 

Households in temporary accommodation  

The Council currently has 10 units of temporary accommodation.  Two of these properties 
have additional security measures to support those in need of temporary accommodation as 
a result of domestic abuse issues.  

Access to supported accommodation for young people is currently via a neighbouring local 
authority, but there are plans to create supported accommodation for young people in 
Workington (through Cumbria County Council).   

The table below shows a snapshot of the number of households in temporary 
accommodation as at the end of each 6 month period between 2018 and 2021. 

Table 11: Snapshot of households in temporary accommodation 

30/06/2018 31/12/2018 30/06/2019 31/12/2019 30/06/2020 31/12/2020 30/06/2021 31/12/2021 

6 10 5 5 22 30 31 20 

The table shows the sharp rise in the number of households placed in temporary 
accommodation as the pandemic began (March 2020) and the council tried to accommodate 
all rough sleepers and those of no fixed abode as part of the government’s ‘everyone in’ 
initiative. 

Single person households were the most common household type placed in temporary 
accommodation in 2018/19, 2019/20 and 2020/21. They accounted for around 87% of 
households placed in temporary accommodation.  

In line with the Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities, the council 
recognises that Bed and Breakfast (B&B) accommodation caters for very short term stays 
only and offers residents only limited privacy, and may lack or require sharing of important 
amenities, such as cooking and laundry facilities. Wherever possible, therefore, the council 
seeks to avoid using B&B accommodation for homeless households unless, in the very 
limited circumstances where it is likely to be the case, it is the most appropriate option for the 
applicant. 

The unprecedented circumstances of the pandemic led to a significant increase in the 
number of homeless households accommodated in temporary accommodation: from 8 in 
February 2020 to over 40 households in May 2020, in response to the Government’s 
‘Everyone In’ initiative.  This meant a short term increase in the use of bed and breakfast 
accommodation as most of these households were placed in hotels (bed and breakfast) 
given the urgency of the need. 

Rough Sleeping 

Sleeping on the streets is the most visible and extreme form of homelessness. 

People sleeping rough are defined, for the purposes of annual rough sleeping street counts, 
by the government as: 

‘People sleeping, about to bed down (sitting on/in or standing next to their bedding) or 
actually bedded down in the open air (such as on the streets, in tents, doorways, parks, bus 
shelters or encampments). People in buildings or other places not designed for habitation 
(such as stairwells, barns, sheds, car parks, cars, derelict boats, stations, or “bashes” which 
are makeshift shelters, often comprised of cardboard boxes). The definition does not include 

Page 67



 

Homelessness review 2021_summary of findings  14 
 

people in hostels or shelters, people in campsites or other sites used for recreational 
purposes or organised protest, squatters or travellers. Bedded down: is taken to mean either 
lying down or sleeping. About to bed down includes those who are sitting in/on or near a 
sleeping bag or other bedding.’ 

Local authorities are required to produce either a formal count or an estimate of the number 
of rough sleepers in the area. Counts are to be conducted between 1 October and 30 
November each year. 

The official annual rough sleeper figures and comparative homelessness figures reported to 
government are: 

Table 12: Total number of people sleeping rough by local authority and region 

 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

England 2,744 3,569 4,134 4,751 4,677 4,266 2,688 

North West 189 220 313 434 428 349 226 

Allerdale 3 0 3 1 3 8 1 

Source: MHCLG Annual Rough Sleeping Snapshot gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-
homelessness#rough-sleeping-tables 

In terms of gender, the majority of rough sleepers tend to be men nationally and regionally 
(in the North West) based on the rough sleeping annual count.  Numbers in Allerdale are too 
small to determine any trends in this data.   

The table above shows that comparatively Allerdale’s rough sleeper count is low.  However, 
whilst the numbers actually counted sleeping rough are very low, there is at the same time 
an acceptance that hidden homelessness (those sleeping on a friends floor or sofa for 
example) is an issue in our area.  This has previously been hard to quantify, but the 
pandemic through 2020/21 has shown the potential scale of hidden homelessness in 
Allerdale when over 40 people were housed in a very short space of time who had nowhere 
to stay. 

Allerdale has specialist officers delivering focused projects in relation to rough sleeping 

funded by the MHCLG/DLUHC, they are able to offer support with a range of interventions 

and issues via a new pathway model of integrated support to get off the streets in to longer 

term supported tenancies. 

Page 68

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness#rough-sleeping-tables
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness#rough-sleeping-tables


 

1 

Equality Impact Assessment Form 

An Equality Impact Assessment is a way of examining how different communities or groups of people will be affected by a current 
or proposed service, policy or project. It helps identify ways of removing or reducing any adverse or negative impacts and with 
developing an action plan for ensuring the service, policy or project has the most positive outcomes for our communities. 

Equality Impact Assessments consider a range of issues in relation to equality groups. The Public Sector Equality Duty focuses on 
a set of protected characteristics which can be used as a tool to help us understand how our services will impact on our 
communities.    

The Equality Duty covers the following 9 protected characteristics: 

Age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex, sexual orientation, marriage 
and civil partnership (only in the respect of the requirement of the general duty to have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination) 

The Council has also chosen to consider rurality and socio economic status as part of its Impact Assessments. 

EIA title: What service change, policy or project are you assessing? 

Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2022-2027 

P
age 69



 

2 

1. What is the purpose of this service change, policy or project? 

The Homelessness Prevention and Rough Sleeping Strategy sets out our vision for tackling homelessness and rough sleeping in 
Allerdale over the next five years.  

This Strategy sets out the Council’s commitment to meeting the challenges that tackling homelessness presents and details how 
the Council and its partners can work together to prevent homelessness, tackle to causes of homelessness and provide 
outcomes for people who are or are at risk of homelessness. It aims to provide a service to all households presenting as 
homeless whether or not the local authority has a statutory duty. 

There are four priorities in the strategy:  
1. Reduce levels of hidden homelessness and rough sleeping 
2. Prioritise prevention 
3. Make sure there is appropriate support in place  
4. Make sure there are suitable accommodation options available 

2. How does it contribute to the priorities and objectives in our Council Strategy? 

Directly contributes - ‘Preventing and reducing homelessness’ is one of the strategic objectives in the Council Strategy 2020-
2030.  

3. Who is likely to be affected by the service change, policy or project? For example: all residents, young people, people with 
disabilities. 

 People in the district experiencing or at risk of homelessness and rough sleeping  

 Members of the public  

 All key statutory agencies and others with an interest / involvement in working with people experiencing or at risk of 
homelessness 

The strategy will affect residents who are homeless or at risk of becoming homeless. The proposals within this Strategy are 
aimed at providing an effective service for anyone who is currently experiencing homelessness or facing homelessness and 
households who may become homeless in the future.  Certain groups are given priority as part of homelessness legislation, 

P
age 70



 

3 

however the strategy recognises a need to move beyond statutory duties and take into account the needs of those who may not 
be considered a ‘priority need’ or ‘intentionally homeless’. 

Legislation requires the particular needs of the following groups must be taken into account: people released from prison or youth 
detention accommodation; care leavers; former members of the regular armed forces; victims of domestic abuse; people leaving 
hospital; people suffering from a mental illness or impairment; and, any other group that the authority identifies as being at 
particular risk of homelessness in their district.   

Homelessness can affect all households / individuals however local data and research has shown that certain households / 
individuals are more at risk and are affected in differing ways - the strategy is focused on addressing these.  

In terms of who has accessed the homelessness service in the past we know that 25-34 year olds represent the largest 
proportion of applicants and that single people are over-represented.  Just over half of households owed a prevention duty 
contained dependent children.  Domestic abuse cases have risen substantially over the past three years meaning that more 
women are presenting as homeless.  

We know that being homeless increases vulnerability and a number of groups are particularly identified: 

o Rough sleepers 
o Single homeless people 
o Young people who have left home and cannot return 
o Care leavers  
o People with complex needs 
o People with addiction issues 
o People with mental health issues 
o People and children who are victims of domestic abuse and sexual violence 
o People discharged from hospital 
o Some people with physical disabilities and learning disabilities 
o Some black and minority ethnic groups including refugees, asylum seekers and Gypsies and Travellers 
o Some former members of the armed forces 
o Some offenders and ex-offenders who have no home to go to when discharged from prison 
o People in financial hardship, including older people who are on low incomes 
o People in insecure employment 

P
age 71



 

4 

4. What information and evidence have you used to support your findings on impacts? List any consultation or 
engagement undertaken. For example: customer monitoring data, customer profiles, demographic information, survey results, 
customer feedback outcomes of consultation exercises. 

Homelessness monitoring data (H-Clic) 
Cumbria Choice data 
Feedback from service users 
Socio-economic and demographic information 
Engagement with partners to develop the strategy 

5. How can this service, service change, policy or project help us to meet our equalities duties? For example: by engaging 
young people, promoting good race relations or targeting services to meet the needs of older people. 

The strategic priorities have been determined through homeless and rough sleeping research, data review and consultation 
based on addressing and meeting the needs of those most at risk and most vulnerable within the district. 

6. Are there any known equalities issues relating to this service, service change, policy or project that have been raised 
outside of Allerdale? For example, by other councils, or through national research. 

National research shows that homelessness is complex and often reflects other vulnerabilities or circumstances. Homelessness 
often results from a combination of events such as relationship breakdown, debt, adverse experiences in childhood and through 
ill health. This can mean that certain groups are more at risk. For example, homelessness and ill health have been shown to be 
intrinsically linked. Evidence suggests that the health of people experiencing homelessness is significantly worse than that of the 
general population1.   

                                                           
1 LGA (2017) The Impact of Homelessness on Health 

P
age 72

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/22.7%20HEALTH%20AND%20HOMELESSNESS_v08_WEB_0.PDF


 

5 

7. Impact and action plan 

Use the table below to indicate whether the service change, policy or project is likely to have a positive2, adverse3 or neutral impact 
on each of the groups listed and what that impact is. (See glossary below for definitions) 

You also need to indicate what actions or provisions you have put in place, or propose to put in place, to ensure you address the 
adverse impacts identified. 

Equality group 
 

Positive 
(tick) 

Adverse 
(tick) 

Neutral 
(tick) 

What is the impact? Mitigating actions proposed (to 
address adverse impact) 

Age    The homelessness strategy will ensure that 
services are in place to prevent 
homelessness for all age groups. 

It is recognised that some age groups may 
require particular support, for example, 
young people and especially care leavers, 
where clear and meaningful pathways need 
to be in place to support them away from 
homelessness. 

 

Disability  

 

  The homelessness strategy will ensure that 
services are in place to prevent 
homelessness for all households 
irrespective of their disability.  Disability is 
listed as a common support need amongst 
homeless households in Allerdale and the 
council works with a range of agencies and 
statutory partners to address support needs 
such as disability.  

 

                                                           
2 A positive impact is where one or more group or groups of people are put at an advantage by the way a particular policy or procedure is carried out. A 
positive impact may also occur where a particular policy or procedure will contribute to promoting equality, equal opportunities or improving relations within 
equality target groups. 

 
3 An adverse impact is where one or more group or groups of people are put at a disadvantage by the way a particular policy or procedure is carried out. For 
example, disabled or elderly people, or people living in very isolated rural areas may struggle to use wheelie bins as easily as other people. 

P
age 73



 

6 

Equality group 
 

Positive 
(tick) 

Adverse 
(tick) 

Neutral 
(tick) 

What is the impact? Mitigating actions proposed (to 
address adverse impact) 

Gender    The homelessness strategy will ensure that 
services are in place to prevent 
homelessness for all households 
irrespective of their gender.   

A particular positive impact is identified in 
the case of victims of domestic abuse as 
specific support is available. 

 

Gender 
reassignment 

   The homelessness strategy will ensure that 
services are in place to prevent 
homelessness for all households 
irrespective of their sexual orientation.   

 

Marital and civil 
partnership 
status 

   The homelessness strategy will ensure that 
services are in place to prevent 
homelessness for all households 
irrespective of their marital/civil partnership 
status.   

 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

   The homelessness strategy will ensure that 
services are in place to prevent 
homelessness for all households including 
those that contain pregnant individuals. 

 

Race and 
minority ethnic 
groups 

   The homelessness strategy will ensure that 
services are in place to prevent 
homelessness for all households 
irrespective of their race.   

 

Religion and/or 
belief 

   The homelessness strategy will ensure that 
services are in place to prevent 
homelessness for all households 
irrespective of their religion or beliefs. 

 

Sexual 
orientation 

   The homelessness strategy will ensure that 
services are in place to prevent 

 

P
age 74



 

7 

Equality group 
 

Positive 
(tick) 

Adverse 
(tick) 

Neutral 
(tick) 

What is the impact? Mitigating actions proposed (to 
address adverse impact) 

homelessness for all households 
irrespective of their sexual orientation. 

People in rural 
areas 

   We are aware that take up of the 
homelessness service can be more difficult 
in rural areas. The council offers digital 
access to services where this is appropriate, 
and a 24 hour phone line is also available. 
The council continues to work with voluntary 
and third sector organisations across 
Allerdale.  

 

People on low 
incomes 

   People on low incomes are particularly 
vulnerable to homelessness and the 
strategy aims to ensure prevention activity 
supports households at risk of 
homelessness to retain their tenancies. 

 

 
This strategy aims to have a positive impact on any resident that is homeless or at risk of being homeless. While we aware that 
take up of this service may vary depending on factors such as rural/urban location, general awareness of the service or reluctance 
to approach for advice, overall the strategy aims to have a positive rather than just neutral impact. There is no evidence to suggest 
that protected characteristics of those individuals that the policy affects will be impacted in an adverse way.  
 
  
8. Are the adverse impacts justified? If they are, explain in what way. For example: disproportionate costs, legislative constraints. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
EIA completion 
 

P
age 75



 

8 

Date completed: 4 March 2022 

Lead officer: 
Holly Cosgrove, Housing Options 
Manager 

Chief Officer: 
Sharon Sewell, Chief officer (Place and 
Governance) 

 
 
Please forward an electronic copy of this completed assessment to: policy@allerdale.gov.uk 

P
age 76

mailto:policy@allerdale.gov.uk


 

9 

Glossary 

 
Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within an age group (for example, 18-30 
year-olds). 
 
Disability: A person has a disability if s/he has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse 
effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability; Mental Health; Learning 
disability. 
 
Gender: This refers to a person being either male or female. 
 
Gender reassignment: This is the process of transitioning from one sex to another, considered a personal process rather than a 
medical one and it does not require someone to undergo medical treatment in order to be protected. 
 
Marital and civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be treated the same as 
married couples on a range of legal matters. 
 
Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work context, 
protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding. 
 
Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, 
Asian, Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers. 
 
Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. “Belief” includes religious and 
philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). The category includes, Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, 
Buddhism, and non-religious beliefs such as Humanism. 
 
Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or to both sexes. 
 
Rurality: Allerdale is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this means we have at least 80 percent of our population in rural settlements and 
larger market towns. 
 
 

P
age 77



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 78



Allerdale Borough Council 
 

Executive – 20 April 2022 

 

Affordable Housing Scheme 

 
 
Portfolio holder Councillor Marion Fitzgerald, Strategy Policy and 

Performance 
 

Report from Sharon Sewell - Chief Officer (Place and Governance) 

Wards affected   All outside of the National Park Planning Authority 

Is this a key decision  Yes 
 

 
 

1.0 The reason for the decision 

 
1.1 To ensure that the Council has a formally adopted policy detailing the framework in 

which the Council will assess applications for Affordable Housing in the private 
sector where the Council is the certifying body.  
 

1.2 Existing Low Cost Home Ownership guidance has been in place since 2015 and by 
changing this strengthens the Councils policy position particularly in relation to s106 
eligibility criteria and how it is implemented.  

 
1.3 In addition, this new policy also includes a suite of other affordable housing 

documents which formalises the framework, and includes First Homes, which 
Central Government has recently introduced to the market and Allerdale Borough 
Council are taking up the option to include local connection criteria. 

2.0  Recommendations 

 
2.1 That the Executive supports the introduction of a formal approach to assessing 

eligibility criteria for Private Sector Affordable Housing where the Council is the 
certifying body.  

 
2.2  That the Executive formally adopts the Affordable Housing Scheme as set out in 

Appendix 1 to support local people in accessing housing that meets local need. 
 
2.3 That any future minor amendments are delegated to the Chief Officer Place and 

Governance in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Housing. 

Page 79

Agenda Item 9



3.0  Background and Introduction 

 
3.1 The use of an Affordable Housing framework supported by a suit of policies allows 

the Council to intervene in the housing market by steering what is a finite supply of 
housing opportunities in the borough towards occupants who can demonstrate a 
link to the locality and a need to live in a given location. 

3.2 Policy SA3 in the Local Plan Part 2 determines the number and tenure of affordable 
housing units to be delivered on new housing developments. The output of this is 
that the Council is able to use the affordable housing scheme in which to delivery 
against this policy. 

3.3 Currently the Council has in place a number of informal guidance documents with 
which to assess affordable housing eligibility and which are also referred to within 
Section 106 obligations to secure affordable housing.   

3.4 In addition, Government recently introduced the First Homes product as part of the 
affordable housing mix, and has establish national criteria as part of the National 
Planning Policy Framework.    

3.5 This National Planning Policy framework also provides an opportunity for the 
Council to include local clauses, including local connection, and discretion to 
introduce a non-rental policy for first homes.    

3.6 This report seeks to replace the informal guidance documents and introduce the 
Affordable Housing Scheme (including first homes) as a formally adopted policy. 

3.7 These policies will strengthen the Councils position in terms of providing clarity on 
how we assess housing need and the policy criteria within s106 obligations.   

4.0  Content (to include alternative options considered) 

 
4.1 The purpose of the affordable housing scheme is to ensure that local people 

continue to have access to housing which remains affordable and which serves 
local need. 

4.2 Local people often find it difficult to access suitable housing in the area where they 
live or work or have previously lived and as such, this policy will provide an 
opportunity for qualifying people to access housing. 

4.3  The introduction of the Affordable Housing Scheme contains a number of tenures 
for which a policy has been developed.  These individual policies will provide clarity 
on how the Council will assess applications, leading to certifying applicants to rent 
or purchase homes.   

The Affordable Housing Scheme (Appendix 1) is the overarching framework 
containing policies relating to the following tenures: 

i. Affordable Rent (Not transferred to a registered provider) (Appendix 2) 

ii. Discounted Sales (Appendix 3 

Page 80



iii. First Homes (Appendix 4) 

iv. Shared Ownership (part rent part buy (Appendix 5) 

5.0  Delivery arrangements 

 
5.1 The Affordable Housing Scheme Policy, is underpinned by the Housing Strategy 

which aims support the delivery of Affordable Housing, and the outcomes of 
delivery are reported through the quarterly performance framework  

6.0 Implications and Impact 

6.1 Contribution to Council Strategy Priorities, Outputs and Outcomes  

This policy supports the priority of meeting local housing need in areas where 
housing is in demand.  This policy contributes to the People objective “Building 
stronger and healthier communities” by ensuring that we meet the identified need 
as set out in the Council current Housing Strategy beyond 2021. This also 
contributes to the objective “Thriving Towns and Villages” as set out in the Council 
Strategy 2020-2030, by seeking to ensure that the Council enables “suitable 
affordable housing for all” 

6.2 Finance/Resource implications 

There are no financial implications on revenue as this implementation and delivery 
of the policy will be managed within existing resources. 

6.3 Legal and governance implications  

The Council has the right in which to apply local policy through the Town and 
County Planning Act 1990 and National Planning Policy ratified in the Allerdale 
Local Plan (Part 1) and its associated Supplementary Planning Documents and 
Guidance, as attributed to each respective Planning Application by way of a Section 
106 Agreement. 

6.4 Risk analysis 

 A scored and mitigated risk log 
 

Risk Consequence Controls required 
Mitigated 
score 

Challenges to the 
policy 

Review policy and 
decisions made 
relating to applications. 

Timeframe in place to 
review policy. 
 
Appeals process set 
out within the policy. 

Low 

Policy isn’t 
approved 

The Council will not 
have a policy to 
determine how it 
facilities access to 
affordable housing. 
 

Policy that sets out 
criteria so that 
residents in low 
incomes can access 
affordable housing 
through this scheme. 
 

Medium 

Page 81



People of low incomes 
are priced out of the 
housing market. 
 
Impacts upon the 
delivery of Local Plan 
Policy SA3. 

 

 

6.5 Increasing satisfaction and service  

The Affordable Housing Scheme Policy recognises the need for a person centre 
approach when assessing their eligibility for housing, and taking into consideration 
personal circumstances.  The implementation of this policy is already in place and 
by formalising the policy there will be a continuation of how we deliver the service.  

6.6 Equality impacts 

 An equality impact assessment has been carried out and there are not negative 
impacts relating to the policy. 

6.7 Health and Safety impacts 

 None 

6.8 Health, wellbeing and community safety impacts 

 None 

6.9 Environmental/sustainability impacts 

6.10  There are no environmental impacts on this policy as it is, aimed at supporting 
residents into home ownership through the delivery of affordable housing through 
new development and or resale properties that have been secure through s106 
obligations and in perpetuity, and therefore the long term sustainability of this 
scheme is also protected.    

6.10 Other significant implications 

 None 
 

Appendices attached to this report 

 

Appendix number Title of appendix 

1 Affordable Homes Scheme – (Policy Framework) 

2 Affordable Rented – Not Transferred to a Registered 
Provider 

3 Discounted Sale 

4 First Homes 

5 Shared Ownership 

 

Page 82



Background documents available – none  

 

Name of background document Where it is available 

First Homes Guidance https://www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes 

 
 
Report author(s) and contact officer(s): 
 
Officer name Andrea Smith 
Housing Manager 
andrea.smith@allerdale.gov.uk 
01900 516667 

Page 83

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Ffirst-homes&data=04%7C01%7Candrea.smith%40allerdale.gov.uk%7C7f6e8edc58024da6793208da16e2c54f%7Ca10953b672334b77b858e13f522d29c8%7C0%7C0%7C637847460470000655%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000&sdata=TH4K6qpLHKjZPPkW%2BPpZdxbjo54OULprwddFJp1iq90%3D&reserved=0
mailto:andrea.smith@allerdale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84



 

 

 

 

 

Affordable Housing Scheme 
 

  

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit” 
 

Page 85



 

Page | 2 

 

 

Document title Affordable Housing Scheme 

Document author Housing Operations Manager 

Who is accountable for 
this criteria/strategy? 

Housing Operations Manager 

Current version no. V1.0 

Effective from date xxxx 2022 

Approval body  

Approval date  

Review frequency Every 2 years 

Next review due  

Is the document 
confidential? 

No 

 
Revision History 
 

Date Version 
Summary of Changes    
Keep VERY brief 

Section(s) 
Changed 

 1.0 
New document – replaces previous 
guidance and criteria documents 

 

    

    

    

 
Equalities Impact Assessment This must be done each time a criteria/strategy is 
fundamentally revised 
 

Assessment date  

Assessment 
location 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 86



 

Page | 3 

 

 

 

 

CONTENTS 

1.0   Introduction  

2.0   Policy Context 

3.0   Scope of the Criteria 

4.0   Process 

5.0   Appeals 

6.0   Enforcement 

7.0   Monitoring and Review 

Appendix 1:  NPPF definition of affordable housing 

Appendix 2: List of accompanying policy documents 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 87



 

Page | 4 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Affordable Housing Scheme (AHS) has been developed to help 

households who have been priced out of the housing market by rising house 

prices and stagnating household incomes in accordance with National 

Planning Policy.  

1.2 In 2021, figures provided by the Cumbria Observatory showed that in 

Allerdale, median (middle value) house prices were 5.5 times higher than 

median household income. Lower quartile (lowest quarter value) house prices 

were 6.2 times higher than lower quartile household income.  

1.3 AHS is an umbrella term used to describe how the Council administers 

housing that bridges the gap between social rent and open market properties. 

AHS covers the following tenures: 

 Affordable Rent properties that have not been transferred to a 

Registered Provider  

 Discounted Sale 

 First Homes 

 Shared Ownership 

Each tenure has a specific policy document, which should be read together 

with this document. 

1.4 The AHS uses the definitions of tenure specified in the National Planning 

Policy Framework (updated in July 2021) (see Appendix 1).  

2. POLICY CONTEXT 

2.1 National Policy 

The ability for the Council to use planning obligations comes from Section 106 

of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990, as amended by Section 12 of the 

1991 Planning and Compensation Act and the Localism Act 2011. These set 

out the legislative background against which planning obligations may be 

sought. Further legislation and guidance is set out in the National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF), the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

Regulations 2010 (as amended) and the Planning Policy Guidance (PPG). 

2.2 Local Policy 

This criteria has a direct link to Allerdale’s Local Plan (policy SA3), which can 

be accessed through the following link: allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/ 

 

Page 88

https://www.allerdale.gov.uk/en/siteallocations/


 

Page | 5 

3. PURPOSE AND SCOPE  

3.1 The AHS document provides the framework in which to assess applications 

for the LCHS within the Borough of Allerdale.  

3.2 The AHS document covers all properties where Allerdale Borough Council is 

the certifying body and in accordance with the relevant planning obligation.   

3.3 The AHS document does not apply to properties that are covered by the Lake 

District National Park Planning Authority. 

4. PROCESS 

4.1 The eligibility criteria and assessment process for each tenure is specified in 

the appropriate tenure document. These documents are available on the 

Allerdale Borough Council website, or by request from 

housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk. 

4.2 Households submit their forms to the Council’s Housing team, with 

accompanying evidence.  

 Application forms are available from the Council’s website or by requesting 

one from housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk. 

4.3 The Housing Team will assess the application using the appropriate tenure 

document. 

4.4 All communication after application will be by email, unless the applicant 

requests to be contacted by post. 

4.5 Hard copies of evidence will be disposed of as confidential waste, unless the 

applicant requests that it is returned. A copy will be taken of any evidence 

provided and this will be retained by the Council. 

4.6 When a household is found to be ineligible, the decision letter will give details 

of why the applicant has been refused and the deadline by which they should 

appeal. 

5. APPEALS 

5.1 The deadline to appeal an ineligible decision is 14 working days from the date 

of the refusal letter.    

5.2 Those wishing to appeal against a decision not to certify must do so in writing 

to the Housing Manager at Allerdale Borough Council by post to the Housing 

Manager, Allerdale Borough Council, Allerdale House, Workington, CA14 3YJ 

or by email to housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk 

Page 89

mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk


 

Page | 6 

5.3 On receipt of an appeal, an acknowledgement letter will be sent to the 

applicant giving a date by which the final decision will be made. The Council 

will endeavour to fully respond to an appeal within 14 working days after 

receipt of the appeal being acknowledged. 

5.4 The response is final and no further correspondence will be entered in to, and 

there will be no further right of appeal 

6. ENFORCEMENT 

6.1 The Council has to ensure that households occupying a property covered by 

the AHS are eligible to live in it in accordance with the planning obligation 

relating to it.  

6.2 If anyone buys a discounted sale property in breach of the Section106 

planning agreement the Council can enforce the terms of the agreement, 

which might be by way of an injunction. 

7.  MONITORING AND REVIEW 

7.1  It is expected that monitoring will be on-going to determine that the AHS is 

working for both the developers and local communities. 

7.2 Monitoring will also ensure that the type of housing provided through the AHS 

reflects the needs of local households. 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

Page | 7 

APPENDIX 1 

NPPF Definition of Affordable housing  

Housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market (including 
housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or is for essential 
local workers); and which complies with one or more of the following definitions: 

(a) Affordable housing for rent: meets all of the following conditions: (a) the rent is 
set in accordance with the Government’s rent policy for Social Rent or Affordable 
Rent, or is at least 20% below local market rents (including service charges where 
applicable); (b) the landlord is a registered provider, except where it is included as 
part of a Build to Rent scheme (in which case the landlord need not be a registered 
provider); and (c) it includes provisions to remain at an affordable price for future 
eligible households, or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable 
housing provision. For Build to Rent schemes affordable housing for rent is expected 
to be the normal form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context, is known 
as Affordable Private Rent). 

(b) Starter homes: is as specified in sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and Planning 
Act 2016 and any secondary legislation made under these sections. The definition of 
a starter home should reflect the meaning set out in statute and any such secondary 
legislation at the time of plan-preparation or decision-making. Where secondary 
legislation has the effect of limiting a household’s eligibility to purchase a starter 
home to those with a particular maximum level of household income, those 
restrictions should be used. 

(c) Discounted market sales housing: is that sold at a discount of at least 20% 
below local market value. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and 
local house prices. Provisions should be in place to ensure housing remains at a 
discount for future eligible households. 

(d) Other affordable routes to home ownership: is housing provided for sale that 
provides a route to ownership for those who could not achieve home ownership 
through the market. It includes shared ownership, relevant equity loans, other low 
cost homes for sale (at a price equivalent to at least 20% below local market value) 
and rent to buy (which includes a period of intermediate rent). Where public grant 
funding is provided, there should be provisions for the homes to remain at an 
affordable price for future eligible households, or for any receipts to be recycled for 
alternative affordable housing provision, or refunded to government or the relevant 
authority specified in the funding agreement. 

Page 91

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/section/2
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/22/section/2


 

Page | 8 

APPENDIX 2 

List of accompanying policy documents 
 
Housing Policy Document 1 – Affordable Rent (Not Transferred to a Registered Provider) 
 
Housing Policy Document 2 – Discounted Sale 
 
Housing Policy Document 3 – First Homes 
 
Housing Policy Document 4 – Shared Ownership 

Page 92



 

 

1. 

Affordable Rent (Not Transferred to 
a Registered Provider)  

(Part of the Affordable Housing Scheme) 

Housing Policy Document - 01 
 

  

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit” 
 Page 93



 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Affordable Rent properties that have not been transferred to a Registered 

Provider form part of the Affordable Housing Scheme (AHS).  

1.2 This document should be read together with the Affordable Housing Scheme 

document.  

1.3 Affordable Rent properties that form part of the AHS must be rented to eligible 
households for a rent lower than the open market rent. 

1.4 The provision of Affordable Rent properties, restrictions on their lettings and 
the duty of the Council to certify tenants is secured through a Section 106 
planning obligation.  

1.5 Cumbria Observatory provides annual Median income figures, which are used 
to assess eligibility. 

1.6 The Council will calculate rental values and assess eligibility. Tenants of 
Affordable Rent properties that have not been transferred to a Registered 
Provider may have to sign a tenancy agreement issued by their landlord. 

2. SCOPE 

2.1 This document will provide the Council with a framework in which to assess 
applications for Affordable Rent properties within the Borough of Allerdale 
where a Section 106 planning obligation grants the Council the duty to certify 
tenants. 

2.2 In areas covered by the Lake District National Park Planning Authority, a 
Section 106 will take precedence. 

2.3 In areas covered by a Local Lettings Policy, the criteria in the Local Lettings 
Policy will take precedence. 

2.4  The information in this document applies to the first letting of a property and 
all subsequent lettings. 

3. PURPOSE 

3.1 The purpose of this document is to provide guidance on how Allerdale 
Borough Council evaluates applications for certification to rent Affordable Rent 
properties that have not been transferred to a Registered Provider, and 
provide information about the scheme. 

4. SETTING RENTS 

4.1 Affordable Properties that have not been transferred to a Registered Provider 
must be let for no more than 80% of their open market rental value. 

4.2 Open market rental value will be evidenced by a valuation from an accredited 
estate agent.  

Page 94



 

 

4.3 In cases where the rental value calculation is specified in a Section 106 
planning obligation, that calculation will be used to determine the amount of 
rent payable. 

5. ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 

5.1 Affordable Need 

Annual household gross income is less than 60% of median income for the 
parish in which the properties are situated1. 

Income = earnings + benefits + savings 

In cases where household income exceeds 60% of the median income, the 
Council may consider that a household cannot afford to rent a property on the 
open rental market, subject to sufficient evidence being provided by the 
applicant.  

5.2 Local Connection2 

A local connection to a parish can take four forms: 

 Resident in the locality for at least five years, or 

 Previously resident in the locality for at least three of the last five years, 
or 

 Family association with an existing resident of at least five years 
residence in the locality. Family association is defined as spouse, civil 
partner, parent, a child over 18 years and siblings. We will also allow 
family associations through marriage e.g. step parents, step child over 
18 years of age and siblings, or 

 Permanent employment in the locality or acceptance of the offer of 
employment 

The Council will use Council Tax records to confirm residency, previous 
residency and family association. Other forms of evidence may be considered 
and additional evidence may be requested. 

Employment will be proven by production of a wage slip or P60 showing the 
employers address. We will also accept a letter from the employer confirming 
the business address. In all cases, we will require confirmation from the 
employer that the employment is permanent.  

                                                           
1 Definition of household poverty in gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-
for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2020/households-below-average-income-an-analysis-of-the-
income-distribution-fye-1995-to-fye-2020 
2  In the event that the Section 106 Planning Obligation contains different criteria, the criteria in the Planning 
Obligation will be applied, in instances where this guidance broadens the application criteria an applicant will be 
entitled to request their circumstances are considered in line with this guidance. 
 

Page 95

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2020/households-below-average-income-an-analysis-of-the-income-distribution-fye-1995-to-fye-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2020/households-below-average-income-an-analysis-of-the-income-distribution-fye-1995-to-fye-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-for-financial-years-ending-1995-to-2020/households-below-average-income-an-analysis-of-the-income-distribution-fye-1995-to-fye-2020


 

 

5.2.1 Locality is defined in the Section 106 Planning Obligation as the parish where 
the development or property is situated. Over time the definition expands to 
include adjoining parishes and, eventually, the borough of Allerdale. 

5.2.2 Under the Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) 
(England) Regulations 2012, the following would not be required to show they 
have a local connection: 

 

 persons who are serving in the regular forces or have done so in 
the five years preceding their application for an allocation of 
housing accommodation; 

 

 bereaved spouses or civil partners of those serving in the regular 
forces where their spouse or partner’s death is attributable 
(wholly or partly) to their service and the bereaved spouse or 
civil partner’s entitlement to reside in Ministry of Defence 
accommodation then ceases; 

 

 seriously injured, ill or disabled reservists (or former reservists) 
whose injury, illness or disability is attributable wholly or partly to 
their service. 

 

5.3 Housing Need  

Households renting an Affordable Rent property should be able to 
demonstrate they are in need of housing. 

The definition of housing need has been taken from the Government 
Guidance on Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment 
(Paragraph: 023 Reference ID: 2a-023-20140306, Revision date: 06 03 2014) 
and the Cumbria Choice Allocations Policy (Reasonable Preference). 
Additional points have been included to cover other eventualities that Allerdale 
Borough Council considers to result housing need3: 

 homeless households or insecure tenure (within the meaning of Part 7 
of the Housing Act 1996) 

 households containing people with social or physical impairment or 
other specific needs living in unsuitable dwellings (e.g. accessed via 
steps) which cannot be made suitable in-situ 

 households that lack basic facilities (e.g. a bathroom or kitchen) and 
those subject to major disrepair or that are unfit for habitation; 

 households containing people with particular social needs (e.g. 
escaping harassment) which cannot be resolved except through a 
move. 

 people occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise 
living in unsatisfactory housing conditions 

                                                           
3 In the event that the appropriate Section 106 Planning Obligation contains a different definition of housing need, 

the definition in the Planning Obligation will be applied, in instances where this guidance broadens the application 
criteria an applicant will be entitled to request their circumstances are considered in line with this guidance. 

Page 96



 

 

 people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds relating to a 
disability 

 people who need to move to a particular locality within the local 
authority’s district, where failure to meet that need would cause 
hardship to themselves or others 

 people needing to be re-housed as a result of leaving tied 
accommodation 

 persons leaving their current accommodation to become a separate 
household (as defined in section 113 of the Housing Act 1985) 

 people who live in rented accommodation and want a more secure                  
tenure. 

 

6. ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS 

6.1 Occupancy Level 

Households who will fully occupy the Affordable Rent property will be given 
priority during the application process. One extra bedroom will be allowed to 
take account of a variety of circumstances such as growing families or 
changing care needs. 

Single person / couple   one or two bed home 

Family +1 child    two or three bed home 

Family +2 same sex children  two or three bed home 

Family +2 opp. sex children  three or four bed home 

Family +3 children    three or four bed home 

Family +4 children    four or five bed home 

Family +5 or more children   five or six bed home 

Households which meet the Eligibility Criteria but which will not fully occupy 
the property will not be certified as eligible to rent the Affordable Rent property 
until the local connection cascade includes the borough of Allerdale. 

6.2 Applicants and any member of their household who will be named on the 
tenancy agreement must not have an interest in any other property either 
through tenancy or ownership at any time during their tenancy. In exceptional 
circumstances, e.g. the need to leave a property due to domestic violence, 
disability or other extenuating circumstances, Allerdale Borough Council may 
approve a tenancy being granted to someone with an interest in another 
property. 

6.3 Households that are renting an Affordable Rent property are not permitted to 
end a tenancy to move to another Affordable Rent property. An exception may 
be made if the household can demonstrate that their housing need will be 
better met by the second property. For example, a change in their occupancy 

Page 97



 

 

level as determined in 5.1 or a household aged 55 years or over wish to rent a 
bungalow. 

6.4 An application to be certified must be made each time the named tenant 
changes, even if the household is remaining at the property. 

7. CUMBRIA CHOICE 

7.1 Cumbria Choice is the housing register for households who want to access 
low cost housing in the county. 

7.2 Households can find more information and register online at 
cumbriachoice.org.uk. Information and registration forms are also available 
from the Housing Options team (0303 123 1702 or via email at 
Homelessness@Allerdale.gov.uk.  

7.3 Households must register on Cumbria Choice before applying for an 
Affordable Rent property. 

7.4 Registering with Cumbria Choice does not guarantee the household will be 
certified as eligible to rent an Affordable Rent property.  

8. APPLICATION TO BE CERTIFIED AS ELIGIBLE TO RENT 

8.1 Application forms are available from the Allerdale Borough Council website, or 
can be requested from housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk.  

8.2 Completed application forms can be submitted by email to 
housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk or by post to: 

The Housing Team            
Allerdale Borough Council                  
Allerdale House                                   
Workington CA14 3YJ 

8.3 Applications will be assessed using the eligibility criteria specified in sections 
5 and 6 of this document. 

8.4 Applicants will receive their decision by email, unless they have requested 
postal communications. Decisions will be made within 10 working days of the 
application being received, subject to all required evidence being provided. 

8.5 Information on how to appeal the decision is in the Low Cost Housing Scheme 

document. 

Page 98

https://www.cumbriachoice.org.uk/Data/ASPPages/1/65.aspx
mailto:Homelessness@Allerdale.gov.uk%3e
mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk


 

 

1. 

Discounted Sale  

(Part of the Affordable Housing Scheme) 

 

Housing Policy Document - 02 

 
 

  

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit” 
 Page 99



 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Discounted Sale properties form part of the Affordable Housing Scheme 

(AHS).  

1.2 This document should be read together with the Affordable Housing Scheme 

document.  

1.3 Discounted Sale properties are sold to eligible households for a percentage of 
their open market value. 

1.4 Households purchase the property outright; the Council will have no financial 
interest in the property. 

1.5 Subsequent re-sales are subject to the same percentage discount as the 
initial sale of the Discounted Sale property. 

1.6 The provision of Discounted Sale properties and the restrictions on their sales 
are secured through Section 106 planning agreement. Prospective buyers are 
urged to obtain the Section 106 Agreement relevant to the property and seek 
legal advice where required to understand the obligations on a Discounted 
Sale buyer and owner. 

1.7 Discounts are calculated using local house prices and local income 
information provided annually by Cumbria Observatory.  

1.8 Discounted Sale properties must be the sole property owned by the occupier, 
and the main residence of that occupier. A Discounted Sale property, or any 
part of it, must not be rented to another household. 

2. SCOPE 

2.1 The process for assessment continues to be applied for all Discounted Sale 
properties in Allerdale.  

2.2  This document will provide the Council with the methodology with which to 
assess applications for Discounted Sale properties within Allerdale, excluding 
those areas covered by the Lake District National Park in its role as a 
Planning Authority. 

2.3  The information in this document applies to the first sale and all subsequent 
re-sales. 

3. PURPOSE 

3.1 The purpose of this document is to provide the methodology by which 
Allerdale Borough Council evaluates applications for certification to purchase 
Discounted Sale properties, and to provide further information for owners and 
prospective purchasers. 

 

 

Page 100



 

 

4. ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 

4.1 Affordable Need 

If the applying household has total available funds that would allow it to 
purchase the Discounted Sale property at its open market value, then the 
household will not be certified as eligible to purchase the Discounted Sale 
property. 

This will be assessed on the following calculation: 

Total available funds = Mortgage in principle + savings + equity 

The mortgage in principle offer should be on headed paper or be sent from a 
company email address from a mortgage advisor or lender regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). 

Applicants will provide statements from all accounts held by those applying to 
purchase the property will provide evidence of their savings. Current account 
statements must show all transactions for three months immediately 
preceding the application. 

Households with a property to sell must provide the latest mortgage statement 
for their current property, and a valuation from a recognised estate agency. 
Equity will be calculated by taking away any outstanding mortgage from the 
current value of the property.  

In the event of a relationship breakdown, the Council will assume a 50/50 
equity split. Proof of a different equity split will be required. 

4.2 Local Connection1 

A local connection to a Parish can take four forms: 

 Resident in the locality for at least five years, or 

 Previously resident in the locality for at least three of the last five years, 
or 

 Family association with an existing resident of at least five years 
residence in the locality. Family association is defined as spouse, civil 
partner, parent, a child over the age of 18 years, and siblings. We will 
also allow family associations through marriage e.g. step parents, step 
child over the age of 18 years and step siblings, or 

 Permanent employment in the locality or acceptance of the offer of 
employment 

                                                           
1  In the event that the Section 106 Planning Obligation contains different criteria, the criteria in the Planning 
Obligation will be applied, in instances where this guidance broadens the application criteria an applicant will be 
entitled to request their circumstances are considered in line with this guidance. 
 

Page 101



 

 

The Council will use Council Tax records to confirm residency, previous 
residency and family association. Other forms of evidence may be considered 
and additional evidence may be requested. 

Employment will be proven by production of a wage slip or P60 showing the 
employers address. We will also accept a letter from the employer confirming 
the business address. In all cases, we will require confirmation from the 
employer that the employment is permanent.  

4.2.1 Locality is defined in the Section 106 Planning Obligation as the parish where 
the development or property is situated. Over time the definition expands to 
include adjoining parishes and, eventually, the borough of Allerdale. 

4.2.2 Under the Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) 
(England) Regulations 2012, the following would not be required to show they 
have a local connection: 

 

 persons who are serving in the regular forces or have done so in 
the five years preceding their application for an allocation of 
housing accommodation; 

 

 bereaved spouses or civil partners of those serving in the regular 
forces where their spouse or partner’s death is attributable 
(wholly or partly) to their service and the bereaved spouse or 
civil partner’s entitlement to reside in Ministry of Defence 
accommodation then ceases; 

 

 seriously injured, ill or disabled reservists (or former reservists) 
whose injury, illness or disability is attributable wholly or partly to 
their service. 

 

4.3 Housing Need  

Households purchasing a Discounted Sale property must be able to 
demonstrate they are in need of housing. 

The definition of housing need has been taken from the Government 
Guidance on Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment 
(Paragraph: 023 Reference ID: 2a-023-20140306, Revision date: 06 03 2014) 
and the Cumbria Choice Allocations Policy (Reasonable Preference). 
Additional points have been included to cover other eventualities that Allerdale 
Borough Council considers to result housing need2: 

 homeless households or insecure tenure (within the meaning of Part 7 
of the Housing Act 1996) 

                                                           
2 In the event that the appropriate Section 106 Planning Obligation contains a different definition of housing need, 

the definition in the Planning Obligation will be applied, in instances where this guidance broadens the application 
criteria an applicant will be entitled to request their circumstances are considered in line with this guidance. 

Page 102



 

 

 households containing people with social or physical impairment or 
other specific needs living in unsuitable dwellings (e.g. accessed via 
steps) which cannot be made suitable in-situ 

 households that lack basic facilities (e.g. a bathroom or kitchen) and 
those subject to major disrepair or that are unfit for habitation; 

 households containing people with particular social needs (e.g. 
escaping harassment) which cannot be resolved except through a 
move. 

 people occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise 
living in unsatisfactory housing conditions 

 people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds relating to a 
disability 

 people who need to move to a particular locality within the local 
authority’s district, where failure to meet that need would cause 
hardship to themselves or others 

 people needing to be re-housed as a result of leaving tied 
accommodation 

 persons leaving their current accommodation to become a separate 
household (as defined in section 113 of the Housing Act 1985) 

 people who live in rented accommodation and want a more secure                  
tenure. 

 

5. ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 Occupancy Level 

Households who will fully occupy the Discounted Sale property will be given 
priority during the application process. As a house is a substantial capital 
investment, one extra bedroom will be allowed. This will take account of a 
variety of circumstances such as growing families or changing care needs. 

Single person / couple   one or two bed home 

Family +1 child    two or three bed home 

Family +2 same sex children  two or three bed home 

Family +2 opp. sex children  three or four bed home 

Family +3 children    three or four bed home 

Family +4 children    four or five bed home 

Family +5 or more children   five or six bed home 

Households which meet the Eligibility Criteria but which will not fully occupy 
the property will not be certified as eligible to purchase the Discounted Sale 
property until the local connection cascade includes the borough of Allerdale. 

5.2 A Discounted Sale property must be your sole property. If you own a 
residential property, you must show evidence to the Council that it has been 

Page 103



 

 

sold subject to contract before completing the purchase of a Discounted Sale 
property.  

5.3 Households that have purchased a Discounted Sale property are not 
permitted to sell that property to purchase another Discounted Sale property. 
An exception may be made if the household can demonstrate that their 
housing need will be better met by the second property. For example, a 
change in occupancy level as determined in 5.1, a household aged 55 years 
or over wish to purchase a bungalow or the occupant needs to leave due to 
domestic violence. 

6. INHERITANCE 

6.1 Those who inherit a Discounted Sale property will be required to inform the 

council.  

6.2 Inheriting households will be entitled to live in the property without meeting the 
eligibility criteria. 

6.3 Any subsequent disposals of the property will be subject to eligibility 
conditions.  

7.  RESALES 

7.1 When selling a Discounted Sale property the vendor should inform the 
Council of their intention to sell, and confirm the date that the property will be 
on the market. The vendor will also submit a full open-market valuation of the 
property to the Council; this will be used as the basis for the Discounted Sale 
calculation, with the relevant discount applied by the Council in accordance 
with the Section 106 Planning Obligation. 

7.2 It is the responsibility of the vendor to market the property and to ensure that 
a buyer has been certified to purchase the property. 

7.3 When Allerdale Borough Council confirms that they accept the valuation, they 
will then send details of the property to households on the Discounted Sale 
register. 

8. AFFORDABLE HOME OWNERSHIP REGISTER 

8.1 The purpose of the Affordable Home Ownership register is to build a picture of 
the demand for Discounted Sale and Shared Ownership properties throughout 
Allerdale  and to allow the Council to notify registered households when an 
affordable property becomes available for purchase. 

8.2 Households are encouraged to join the Affordable Home Ownership Register, 
but it is not a condition of application. 

8.3 Registration forms are available from the Allerdale Borough Council website, 
or can be requested from housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk.  

8.4 Completed registration forms can be submitted by email to 
housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk or by post to: 

Page 104

mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk


 

 

The Housing Team            
Allerdale Borough Council                  
Allerdale House                                   
Workington CA14 3YJ 

8.5 Households will be sent confirmation of their entry on to the register and their 
unique reference number within ten working days of their application being 
received. 

8.6 Entry on to the register does not guarantee the household will be certified as 

eligible to purchase a Discounted Sale or Shared Ownership property. 

9. APPLICATION TO BE CERTIFIED AS ELIGIBLE TO PURCHASE 

9.1 Application forms are available from the Allerdale Borough Council website, or 
can be requested from housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk.  

9.2 Completed application forms can be submitted by email to 
housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk or by post to: 

The Housing Team            
Allerdale Borough Council                  
Allerdale House                                   
Workington CA14 3YJ 

9.3 Applicants will receive their decision by email, unless they have requested 
postal communications. Decisions will be made within 10 working days of the 
application being received, subject to all required evidence being provided. 

9.4 Information on how to appeal the decision is in the Affordable Housing 

Scheme document. 

 

Page 105

mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106



 

 

1. 

First Homes  

(Part of the Affordable Housing Scheme) 

 

Housing Policy Document - 03 

 

  

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit” 
 Page 107



 

Page | 2 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 First Homes properties form part of the Affordable Housing Scheme (AHS).  

1.2 This document should be read with the Affordable Housing Scheme 

document.  

1.3 First Homes is a Government scheme, administered by Local Authorities. 
More information about the scheme is available from gov.uk/guidance/first-
homes. 

1.4 First Homes properties are sold to eligible households for a percentage of 
their open market value. 

1.5 Households purchase the property outright; the Council will have no financial 
interest in the property. 

1.6 Re-sales are subject to the same percentage discount as the first sale of the 
property. 

1.7 The provision of First Homes properties and the restrictions on their sale and 
occupancy are secured through Section 106 planning agreement. Prospective 
buyers are urged to obtain the Section 106 Agreement relevant to the property 
and seek legal advice where required to understand the obligations on a First 
Home buyer and owner. 

1.8 The price of the First Home at first sale must be at a price no higher than 
£250,000, after the discount has been applied. 

1.9 Discounts are set by central government as at least 30% of the open market 
value of the property. The open market value will be determined by a 
valuation provided by an accredited estate agent. 

2. SCOPE 

2.1 The process for assessment is applied to all First Homes properties in 
Allerdale.  

2.2  This document will provide the Council with a framework in which to assess 
applications for First Homes properties within Allerdale, excluding those areas 
covered by the Lake District National Park in its role as a Planning Authority. 

2.3  The information in this document applies to the first sale and all subsequent 
re-sales. 

3. PURPOSE 

3.1 The purpose of this document is to provide the methodology by which 
Allerdale Borough Council evaluates applications for certification to purchase 
First Homes properties, and provide information on surrounding issues. 

 

Page 108

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes


 

Page | 3 

 

4. ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA  - AS SET BY THE GOVERNMENT 

4.1 First-time Buyer 

A purchaser (or, if a joint purchase, all the purchasers) of a First Home should 
be a first-time buyer as defined in paragraph 6 of schedule 6ZA of the Finance 
Act 2003 for the purposes of Stamp Duty Relief for first-time buyers. 

This will be evidenced by the provision of a statutory declaration. Other 
means of evidence may be considered. A statutory declaration is a formal 
statement made affirming that something is true to the best knowledge of the 
person making the declaration. It has to be signed in the presence of a 
solicitor, commissioner for oaths or notary public. 

4.2 Affordable Need 

Purchasers of First Homes, whether individuals, couples or group purchasers, 
should have a combined annual household income not exceeding £80,000  in 
the tax year immediately preceding the year of purchase. 

Applicants must provide a P60 form to show earnings in the previous tax year. 
Other forms of evidence may be considered if a P60 cannot be provided. 

4.3 Funding 

A purchaser of a First Home should have a mortgage or home purchase plan 
(if required to comply with Islamic law) to fund a minimum of 50% of the 
discounted purchase price. 

Applicants should provide written confirmation that they have secured a 
mortgage or home purchase plan for at least 50% of the purchase price. This 
must be on headed paper or the company email from a qualified lender and 
dated within three months preceding the application. 

5.0 ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA – SET BY THE LOCAL AUTHORITY 

The First Homes scheme allows local authorities to apply eligibility criteria in 
addition to the national eligibility criteria, including local connection criteria. 
The Council prioritises meeting the affordable housing needs of local 
communities, and will use the standard definition of Local Connection to 
prioritise applications for First Homes certification. 

5.1 Local Connection1 

A local connection to a parish can take four forms: 

 Resident in the locality for at least five years, or 

                                                           
1  In the event that the Section 106 Planning Obligation contains different criteria, the criteria in the Planning 
Obligation will be applied, in instances where this guidance broadens the application criteria an applicant will be 
entitled to request their circumstances are considered in line with this guidance. 
 

Page 109



 

Page | 4 

 

 Previously resident in the locality for at least three of the last five years, 
or 

 Family association with an existing resident of at least five years 
residence in the locality. Family association is defined as spouse, civil 
partner, parent, child over the age of 18 years, and siblings. We will 
also allow family associations through marriage e.g. step parents, step 
child over the age of 18 years, and step siblings, or 

 Permanent employment in the locality or acceptance of the offer of 
employment 

The Council will use Council Tax records to confirm residency, previous 
residency and family association. Other forms of evidence may be considered 
and additional evidence may be requested. 

Employment will be proven by production of a wage slip or P60 showing the 
employers address. We will also accept a letter from the employer confirming 
the business address. In all cases, we will require confirmation from the 
employer that the employment is permanent.  

4.4.1 Locality is defined in the Section 106 Planning Obligation as the Parish where 
the development or property is situated. Over time the definition expands to 
include adjoining parishes and, eventually, the borough of Allerdale. 

4.4.2 Under the Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) 
(England) Regulations 2012, the following would not be required to show they 
have a local connection: 

 

 persons who are serving in the regular forces or have done so in 
the five years preceding their application for an allocation of 
housing accommodation; 

 

 bereaved spouses or civil partners of those serving in the regular 
forces where their spouse or partner’s death is attributable 
(wholly or partly) to their service and the bereaved spouse or 
civil partner’s entitlement to reside in Ministry of Defence 
accommodation then ceases; 

 

 seriously injured, ill or disabled reservists (or former reservists) 
whose injury, illness or disability is attributable wholly or partly to 
their service. 

 
 

 

 

  

Page 110



 

Page | 5 

 

5.0 INHERITANCE 

5.1 Those who inherit a First Homes property will be required to inform the 

council.  

5.2 Inheriting households will be entitled to live in the property without meeting the 
eligibility criteria. 

5.3 Any subsequent disposals of the property will be subject to eligibility 
conditions.  

6.0  RESALES 

6.1 When selling a First Homes property the vendor should inform the Council of 
their intention to sell, and confirm the date that the property will be on the 
market. The vendor will also submit a full open-market valuation of the 
property to the Council; this will be used as the basis for the discounted price, 
with the relevant discount applied by the Council in accordance with the 
Section 106 Planning Obligation. 

6.2 It is the responsibility of the vendor to market the property and to ensure that 
a buyer has been certified to purchase the property. 

6.3 When Allerdale Borough Council confirms that they accept the valuation, they 
will then request confirmation that the developer or vendor gives their 
approval for the Council to send details of the property to households on the 
Affordable Home Ownershipregister. 

7.0 AFFORDABLE HOME OWNERSHIP REGISTER 

7.1 The purpose of the Affordable Home Ownership register is to build a picture of 
the demand for affordable home ownership throughout Allerdale  and to allow 
the Council to notify registered households when an affordable property 
becomes available for purchase. 

7.2 Households are encouraged to join the Affordable Home Ownership Register, 
but it is not a condition of application. 

7.3 Registration forms are available from the Allerdale Borough Council website, 
or can be requested from housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk.  

7.4 Completed registration forms can be submitted by email to 
housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk or by post to: 

The Housing Team            
Allerdale Borough Council                  
Allerdale House                                   
Workington CA14 3YJ 

7.5 Households will be sent confirmation of their entry on to the register and their 
unique reference number within ten working days of their application being 
received. 

Page 111

mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk


 

Page | 6 

 

7.6 Entry on to the register does not guarantee the household will be certified as 

eligible to purchase an affordable property. 

8. APPLICATION TO BE CERTIFIED AS ELIGIBLE TO PURCHASE 

8.1 Application forms are available from the Allerdale Borough Council website, or 
can be requested from housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk.  

8.2 Completed application forms can be submitted by email to 
housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk or by post to: 

The Housing Team            
Allerdale Borough Council                  
Allerdale House                                   
Workington CA14 3YJ 

8.3  Applications will be assessed using the eligibility criteria specified in sections 
4 and 5 of this document. 

8.4 Applicants will receive their decision by email, unless they have requested 
postal communications. Decisions will be made within 10 working days of the 
application being received, subject to all required evidence being provided. 

8.5 Information on how to appeal the decision is in the Affordable Housing 

Scheme document. 

 

Page 112

mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk


 

 

1. 

Shared Ownership  

(Part of the Affordable Housing Scheme) 

 

Housing Policy Document - 04 
 

  

 

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit” 
 Page 113



 

Page | 2  

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Shared Ownership properties form part of the Affordable Housing Scheme 

(LCHS).  

1.2 This document should be read together with the Affordable Housing Scheme 

document.  

1.3 An eligible household will purchase a percentage of a shared ownership 
property. A housing association owns the remaining percentage, and the 
buyer pays rent for this. 

1.4 The provision of Shared Ownership properties and the restrictions on their 
sales are secured through Section 106 planning agreement. Prospective 
buyers are urged to obtain the Section106 Agreement relevant to the property 
and seek legal advice where required to understand the obligations on a 
Shared Ownership buyer and owner. 

2. SCOPE 

2.1 This document will provide the Council with the methodology in which to 
assess applications for Shared Ownership properties within Allerdale, where 
this is specified in a Section 106 planning agreement. Areas covered by the 
Lake District National Park in its role as a Planning Authority are excluded. 

2.2  The information in this document applies to the first sale and all subsequent 
re-sales. 

3. PURPOSE 

3.1 The purpose of this document is to provide guidance on how Allerdale 
Borough Council evaluates applications for certification to purchase Shared 
Ownership properties, and provide information on surrounding issues. 

4. ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA 

4.1 Affordable Need 

If the applying household has total available funds that would allow it to 
purchase the Shared Ownership property at its full open market value (i.e. 
before the Shared Ownership discount is applied), then the household will not 
be certified as eligible to purchase the Shared Ownership property. 

This will be assessed on the following calculation: 

Total available funds = Mortgage in principle + savings + equity 

The mortgage in principle offer should be on headed paper or be sent from a 
company email address from a mortgage advisor or lender regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority (FCA). 

Page 114



 

Page | 3  

 

Statements from all accounts held by those applying to purchase the property 
will provide evidence of their savings. All statements must show all 
transactions for at least three months immediately preceding the application. 

Households with a property to sell must provide the latest mortgage statement 
for their current property, and a valuation from a recognised estate agency. 
Equity will be calculated by taking away any outstanding mortgage from the 
current value of the property.  

4.2 Local Connection1 

A local connection to a parish can take four forms: 

 Resident in the locality for at least five years, or 

 Previously resident in the locality for at least three of the last five years, 
or 

 Family association with an existing resident of at least five years 
residence in the locality. Family association is defined as spouse, civil 
partner, parent, a child over the age of 18 and siblings. We will also 
allow family associations through marriage e.g. step parents, step child 
over the age of 18 and siblings, or 

 Permanent employment in the locality or acceptance of the offer of 
employment 

The Council will use Council Tax records to confirm residency, previous 
residency and family association. Other forms of evidence may be considered 
and additional evidence may be requested. 

Employment will be proven by production of a wage slip or P60 showing the 
employers address. We will also accept a letter from the employer confirming 
the business address. In all cases, we will require confirmation from the 
employer that the employment is permanent.  

4.2.1 Locality is defined in the Section 106 Planning Obligation as the Parish where 
the development or property is situated. Over time the definition expands to 
include adjoining parishes and, eventually, the borough of Allerdale. 

4.2.2 Under the Allocation of Housing (Qualification Criteria for Armed Forces) 
(England) Regulations 2012, the following would not be required to show they 
have a local connection: 

 

 persons who are serving in the regular forces or have done so in 
the five years preceding their application for an allocation of 
housing accommodation; 

 

                                                           
1  In the event that the Section 106 Planning Obligation contains different criteria, the criteria in the Planning 
Obligation will be applied, in instances where this guidance broadens the application criteria an applicant will be 
entitled to request their circumstances are considered in line with this guidance. 
 

Page 115



 

Page | 4  

 

 bereaved spouses or civil partners of those serving in the regular 
forces where their spouse or partner’s death is attributable 
(wholly or partly) to their service and the bereaved spouse or 
civil partner’s entitlement to reside in Ministry of Defence 
accommodation then ceases; 

 

 seriously injured, ill or disabled reservists (or former reservists) 
whose injury, illness or disability is attributable wholly or partly to 
their service. 

 

4.3 Housing Need  

Households purchasing a Shared Ownership property must be able to 
demonstrate they are in need of housing. 

The definition of housing need has been taken from the Government 
Guidance on Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment 
(Paragraph: 023 Reference ID: 2a-023-20140306, Revision date: 06 03 2014) 
and the Cumbria Choice Allocations Policy (Reasonable Preference). 
Additional points have been included to cover other eventualities that Allerdale 
Borough Council considers to result housing need2: 

 homeless households or insecure tenure (within the meaning of Part 7 
of the Housing Act 1996) 

 households containing people with social or physical impairment or 
other specific needs living in unsuitable dwellings (e.g. accessed via 
steps) which cannot be made suitable in-situ 

 households that lack basic facilities (e.g. a bathroom or kitchen) and 
those subject to major disrepair or that are unfit for habitation; 

 households containing people with particular social needs (e.g. 
escaping harassment) which cannot be resolved except through a 
move. 

 people occupying unsanitary or overcrowded housing or otherwise 
living in unsatisfactory housing conditions 

 people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds relating to a 
disability 

 people who need to move to a particular locality within the local 
authority’s district, where failure to meet that need would cause 
hardship to themselves or others 

 people needing to be re-housed as a result of leaving tied 
accommodation 

 persons leaving their current accommodation to become a separate 
household (as defined in section 113 of the Housing Act 1985) 

 people who live in rented accommodation and want a more secure                  
tenure. 

                                                           
2 In the event that the appropriate Section 106 Planning Obligation contains a different definition of housing need, 

the definition in the Planning Obligation will be applied, in instances where this guidance broadens the application 
criteria an applicant will be entitled to request their circumstances are considered in line with this guidance. 

Page 116



 

Page | 5  

 

5. ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS 

5.1 Occupancy Level 

Households who will fully occupy the Shared Ownership property will be given 
priority during the application process.  As a house is a substantial capital 
investment, one extra bedroom will be allowed. This will take account of a 
variety of circumstances such as growing families or changing care needs. 

Single person / couple   one or two bed home 

Family +1 child    two or three bed home 

Family +2 same sex children  two or three bed home 

Family +2 opp. sex children  three or four bed home 

Family +3 children    three or four bed home 

Family +4 children    four or five bed home 

Family +5 or more children   five or six bed home 

Households which meet the Eligibility Criteria but which will not fully occupy 
the property will not be certified as eligible to purchase the Shared Ownership 
property until the local connection cascade includes the borough of Allerdale. 

5.2 A Shared Ownership property must be your sole property. If you own a 
residential property, you must show evidence to the Council that it has been 
sold subject to contract before completing the purchase of a shared 
ownership property.  

5.3 Households that have purchased a Shared Ownership property are not 
permitted to sell that property to purchase another Shared Ownership 
property. An exception may be made if the household can demonstrate that 
their housing need will be better met by the second property. For example, a 
change in their occupancy level as determined in 5.1 or a household aged 55 
years or over wish to purchase a bungalow. 

  
6.  RESALES 

When selling a shared ownership property the vendor should inform the 
Council and Housing Association of their intention to sell, and confirm the date 
that the property will be on the market. The vendor will also submit a full open-
market valuation of the property to the Council; this will be used as the basis 
for the price calculation, with the relevant discount applied by the Council in 
accordance with the percentage of the property being sold. 

It is the responsibility of the vendor and the Housing Association to market the 
property and to ensure that a buyer has been certified to purchase the 
property. 

Page 117



 

Page | 6  

 

7. AFFORDABLE HOME OWNERSHIP REGISTER 

7.1 The purpose of the Affordable Home Ownership register is to build a picture of 
the demand for Discounted Sale and Shared Ownership properties throughout 
Allerdale  and to allow the Council to notify registered households when an 
affordable property becomes available for purchase. 

7.2 Households are encouraged to join the Affordable Home Ownership Register, 
but it is not a condition of application. 

7.3 Registration forms are available from the Allerdale Borough Council website, 
or can be requested from housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk.  

7.4 Completed registration forms can be submitted by email to 
housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk or by post to: 

The Housing Team            
Allerdale Borough Council                  
Allerdale House                                   
Workington CA14 3YJ 

7.5 Households will be sent confirmation of their entry on to the register and their 
unique reference number within ten working days of their application being 
received. 

7.6 Entry on to the register does not guarantee the household will be certified as 

eligible to purchase a Discounted Sale or Shared Ownership property. 

 

8. APPLICATION TO BE CERTIFIED AS ELIGIBLE TO PURCHASE 

8.1 Application forms are available from the Allerdale Borough Council website, or 
can be requested from housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk.  

8.2 Completed application forms can be submitted by email to 
housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk or by post to: 

The Housing Team            
Allerdale Borough Council                  
Allerdale House                                   
Workington CA14 3YJ 

8.3  Applications will be assessed using the eligibility criteria specified in sections 
4 and 5 of this document. 

8.4 Applicants will receive their decision by email, unless they have requested 
postal communications. Decisions will be made within 10 working days of the 
application being received, subject to all required evidence being provided. 

8.5 Information on how to appeal the decision is in the Low Cost Housing Scheme 

document. 

Page 118

mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk
mailto:housing.developmentteam@allerdale.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022/23
	Appendix A for Council Strategy Delivery Plan 2022/23

	7 Social Impact Investment Fund
	8 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
	Appendix A for Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
	Appendix B for Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy
	Appendix C for Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy

	9 Affordable Housing Scheme
	Appendix 1 Affordable Housing Scheme
	Appendix 2  for Affordable Rent Document
	Appendix 3 Discounted Sale Document
	Appendix 4 First Homes Document
	Appendix 5 Shared Ownership Document


